Aus dem Neurowissenschaftlichen Forschungszentrum der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

DISSERTATION

Effect of Serotonin on Slow Oscillations in Mice

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

vorgelegt der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

von

Roberto De Filippo

Aus Magenta, Italien

Datum der Promotion: 26/06/2022

Preface

The work presented in this thesis has been partly used for the manuscript " Somatostatin interneurons activated by 5-HT_{2A} receptor suppress slow oscillations in medial entorhinal cortex " (hereafter cited as: De Filippo et al., 2020), which was published in Elife on March 31st 2021.

Table of Contents

Preface	2
1 Abstract	4
2 Manteltext	6
2.1 Introduction	6
2.2 Methods	
Surgery and <i>in vivo</i> recording	9
In vivo analysis	9
Slice preparation	10
In vitro recording	10
In vitro analysis	11
Histological analysis	12
Statistical Analysis	13
2.3 Results	13
Effect of 5-HT on SOs in mEC in vitro	13
Effect of 5-HT on SOs in mEC in anesthetized mice	19
Neurons activated by MDMA in vivo are consistent with Sst identity	21
2.4 Discussion	22
3 Bibliography	25
4 Affidavit	30
5 Author Contribution	31
6 Excerpt of Journal Summary List	32
7 Publications	33
8 Curriculum Vitae	54
9 Publication list	55
10 Acknowledgments	56

Abstract

Serotonin (5-HT) is one of the major neurotransmitters present in the mammalian brain. It has been shown to play a role in multiple physiological functions such as mood, learning and sleep. Our understanding of the effect of 5-HT on neuronal networks is, however, still limited. We focused our attention on the effect of 5-HT on network activity in medial entorhinal cortex (mEC). In mEC it is possible to record slow oscillations (SOs) both in vivo and in vitro. SOs are a synchronized network activity usually present during sleep and anesthesia. We discovered a potent suppressive effect of 5-HT on SOs in vitro. Using an opto- and pharmacogenetic approach we discovered that that somatostatin-expressing (Sst) interneurons activated by the 5-HT_{2A} receptor (5-HT_{2A}R) play an important role in the suppression. Using compounds that induce the release of endogenous 5-HT we investigated the effect of 5-HT in anesthetized mice. Similarly, 5-HT inhibited SOs. Furthermore, a group of neurons was activated upon release of 5-HT in accordance with our in vitro data. The data we gathered points at a possible role of Sst neurons in mediating the downstream effects of 5-HT on neural networks, a finding not previously reported.

Serotonin (5-HT) ist einer der wichtigsten Neurotransmitter im Gehirn von Säugetieren. Es hat sich gezeigt, dass es eine Rolle bei zahlreichen physiologischen Funktionen wie Stimmung, Lernen und Schlaf spielt. Unser Verständnis über die Wirkung von 5-HT auf neuronale Netzwerke ist jedoch noch begrenzt. Wir haben unsere Aufmerksamkeit auf die Wirkung von 5-HT auf die Netzwerkaktivität im medialen entorhinalen Cortex (mEC) gerichtet. Im mEC ist es möglich, langsame Oszillationen (SOs) sowohl in vivo als auch in vitro aufzuzeichnen. SOs sind eine synchronisierte Netzwerkaktivität, die normalerweise während des Schlafes und der Anästhesie auftritt. Wir entdeckten eine starke unterdrückende Wirkung von 5-HT auf SOs in vitro. Mit einem opto- und pharmakogenetischen Ansatz entdeckten wir, dass Somatostatin-exprimierende (Sst) Interneuronen, die durch den 5-HT_{2A}-Rezeptor (5-HT_{2A}R) aktiviert werden, eine wichtige Rolle bei der Unterdrückung spielen. Unter Verwendung von Verbindungen, die die Freisetzung von endogenem 5-HT induzieren, untersuchten wir die Wirkung von 5-HT in betäubten Mäusen. In ähnlicher Weise hemmte 5-HT die SOs. Außerdem wurde eine Gruppe von Neuronen bei Freisetzung von 5-HT in Übereinstimmung mit unseren in vitro-Daten aktiviert. Die von uns gesammelten Daten deuten auf eine mögliche Rolle von Sst-Neuronen bei der Vermittlung der nachgeschalteten Effekte von 5-HT auf neuronale Netzwerke hin, ein Befund, der bisher nicht berichtet wurde.

2 Manteltext

2.1 Introduction

Serotonin or 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) is one of the most prevalent neurotransmitters in the mammalian central nervous system (CNS). A defining feature of the central 5-HT system in vertebrates is its ability to modulate almost every physiological function and behavior. Mood, learning, memory, cognition, appetite, locomotion, stress responses and sleep are all influenced by 5-HT levels. Over the course of several years, a vast body of knowledge related to the activity of 5-HT at a molecular level has been accumulated. We know about the existence of 14 different 5-HT receptors divided into 7 different families. With the exception of 5-HT₃R, the only ionotropic one, all 5-HT receptors are coupled to Gprotein receptors. Additionally, we know the metabolic pathways activated by each family of receptors. 5-HT₁ receptors are coupled to G_{i/o} and they inhibit adenylyl cyclase and activate G protein-coupled inwardly-rectifying potassium channels (GIRKs). 5-HT₂ receptors are coupled to G_{q/11} to activate phospholipase C enzymes that in turn hydrolyzes phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) to diacyl glycerol (DAG) and inositol trisphosphate (IP₃). DAG acts as a second messenger that activates protein kinase C, while IP3 acts as a second messenger that releases stored calcium into the cytoplasm (PKC). 5-HT₃ receptors, as previously stated, are unique in being ionotropic channels, they are selective for cations therefore producing neuronal depolarization. 5-HT₄, 5-HT₆ and 5-HT7 receptors are all linked to $G_{\alpha s}$ that stimulates the cAMP-dependent pathway by activating adenylyl cyclase. 5-HT₅ receptors similarly to the 5-HT₁ family are coupled to G_{i/o}. (Barnes and Sharp, 1999, Hoyer et al., 1994).

On a behavioral level, we recognize that the 5-HT system has a profound effect on sensory processing and mood. Its involvement in a variety of mental disorders is therefore far from surprising. The link between 5-HT and mental disorders (e.g., schizophrenia) was first proposed in 1954 by Woolley and Shaw, only six years after the discovery of 5-HT in 1948, in their work titled "a Biochemical and Pharmacological Suggestion about certain Mental Disorders":

"Although the chemical structures of the ergot alkaloids, yohimbine, and the harmala alkaloids are not very similar, all three classes of drugs have in common a resemblance to serotonin...The important point for the present discussion is that they all have something else in common. This is the ability of at least some members of each group to cause mental disturbances. If one does no more than read a textbook of pharmacology, one is struck by this fact." (Woolley and Shaw, 1954)

Today, the relationship between 5-HT and mental disorders is clear due to the medications we use to treat some of the most common disorders. Depression affects 264 million people in the world (Disease et al., 2018), and its prevalence in Germany, from 2009 to 2017, has increased by 26% (Steffen et al., 2020). Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI) are the most commonly prescribed antidepressant and work by inhibiting the reabsorption of 5-HT in the neurons, therefore causing an increase of 5-HT in the synaptic cleft available to bind to receptors. Other classes of popular medications such as serotonin-noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), noradrenaline and specific serotonergic antidepressants (NASSAs) and tricyclic antidepressants also act on either 5-HT transporters or receptors. Medications for bipolar disorder and psychoses, affecting an estimate of 45 million and 20 million worldwide (Disease et al., 2018) target almost universally 5-HT₂ receptors (Hasan et al., 2020).

In an ironic turn of events, compounds that at first sparked the intuition about the link between 5-HT and mental disorders (nowadays called "psychedelics"), are currently being considered as promising medication in the treatment of various mental disorders such as depression and anxiety disorders (Vollenweider and Preller, 2020, Carhart-Harris et al., 2021, Nutt and Carhart-Harris, 2021). The Charité hospital is also part of this investigative effort participating in the clinical trial "Efficacy and Safety of Psilocybin in Treatment-Resistant Major Depression (EPIsoDE)" (<u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04670081</u>). Interestingly, a common feature of almost all psychedelics is that their psychoactive effects rely on the activation of the 5-HT_{2A} receptor (Vollenweider and Preller, 2020).

The connection between our knowledge of the effect of 5-HT at a molecular and behavioral level, is, however, still vague. The work I performed during my doctorate in the lab of Dietmar Schmitz has focused on discovering the effect of 5-HT on network activity of cortical neurons. Organization of cortical activity is brain state-dependent, ranging continuously from "synchronized" to "desynchronized" states (Harris and Thiele, 2011). On one end of this continuum, representing the prototypical synchronized state, we have slow oscillations (SOs). SOs are a network oscillation characterized by synchronized transitions (< 1 Hz) between periods of high activity (upstates) and relative quiescence (downstates) (Steriade et al., 1993, Neske, 2015, Isomura et al., 2006), they are a global phenomenon observed throughout the cerebral cortex and are considered to be the default emergent activity of cortical networks during slow-wave sleep and anesthesia (Neske, 2015, Sanchez-Vives et al., 2017, Wolansky et al., 2006). What is the effect of 5-HT on slow oscillations? We tried to answer this question employing in vivo anesthetized recordings and combining opto/pharmacogenetic manipulations with *in vitro* electrophysiological recordings. We recorded in medial entorhinal cortex (mEC), a region where it is possible to record SOs both under anesthesia and in acutely prepared cortical slices (Tahvildari et al., 2012, Beed et al., 2020). Pyramidal neurons located in L3 of mEC provide the excitatory drive underlying each upstate (Namiki et al., 2013, Beed et al., 2020). Similarly to other mammalian cortical areas, mEC includes different types of inhibitory GABAergic neurons that can be

grouped into three main classes according to immunoreactivity: parvalbumin (PV), somatostatin (Sst) and 5-HT₃ (Miao et al., 2017, Rudy et al., 2011). Most PV neurons have low input resistance and little spike frequency adaptation, they target the soma and the spike initiation region. Sst neurons are classified into two types, one with characteristics identical to PV interneurons and the other (Martinotti cells), which form synapses into the dendritic trees of their target cells, have high input resistance, and exhibit significant adaptation. 5-HT₃ neurons are found in the superficial layers of the brain and have a high input resistance and mixed adaptation. PV interneurons receive the most excitation (Tahvildari et al., 2012). The transition from downstate to upstate is aided by recurrent excitation and temporal summation of inputs (Sanchez-Vives et al., 2017). This excitation travels to L5 and entrains L5a and L5b excitatory neurons in separate ways. L5a neurons do not engage in SOs, while L5b neurons synchronize consistently. Upstate termination has been linked to both intrinsic and synaptic pathways (Neske, 2015, Tukker et al., 2020). Activity-dependent K+ channels reduce the excitability of neurons over time, resulting in a generalized decline in facilitation (Harris and Thiele, 2011). Blocking GABAB receptors increases upstate length dramatically (Craig et al., 2013), and inhibitory drive has been found to increase during upstate termination. Sst interneurons, and in particular Martinotti cells, characterized by strongly facilitating synapses (Beierlein et al., 2003, Gibson et al., 1999) have been proposed as an important source of inhibition in the termination of upstates (Melamed et al., 2008, Krishnamurthy et al., 2012).

2.2 Methods

A detailed description of all methods used can be found in the Methods section of (de Filippo et al., 2021).

Surgery and in vivo recording

Mice are anesthetized with isofluorane (2%) for a few minutes before being injected intraperitoneally with urethane (1.2 g/kg, Sigma Aldrich, Munich, Germany). Supplemental doses of urethane (0.2 g/kg) were administered as required to preserve the level of anesthesia such that pinching the hindlimbs created no reflex movement. The animals were placed on a stereotaxic frame (Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, California) after their reflexes had stopped, and their body temperature was held at 38°C. The skull was cleaned with a saline solution after the scalp was removed. To reach mEC, a craniotomy was conducted at +3 mm ML, -3 mm AP, +3.25 mm DV.

Extracellular recordings from EC were made with a silicon probe from Cambridge Neurotech (Cambridge, UK) (64-channels (n = 15) or 32-channels (n = 3). The recording electrode was coated with DiI (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Schwerte, Germany), to recover its position at the end of the experiment, and then slowly lowered into the craniotomy using micromanipulators (Luigs&Neumann, Ratingen, Germany) at a 25° angle AP (toward the posterior side of the brain). Saline solution was used to keep the exposed brain moist. To remove noise, a ground wire attached to the amplifier was inserted in the saline solution surrounding the skull. The RHD2000 data acquisition system (Intan Technologies, Los Angeles, California) was used to capture brain signals at a rate of 20 kHz. The open-source RHD2000 Interface Software was used to inspect the recording output online. To standardize anesthesia levels through various trials to prevent the emergence of theta activity in the first 30 minutes of recording, a supplemental dose of urethane (0.2 g/kg) was injected just before the start of the recording. After a 10-minute waiting time during which consistent upstates were continuously visible at a normal frequency, recording began.

In vivo analysis

We selected the channel to use for upstate detection based on the standard deviation (STD) of the trace during baseline (first 5 minutes of recording): the channel with the highest STD was selected, as larger voltage deflection increases detection algorithm accuracy. Given the highly synchronous nature of SOs the spatial location of the channel selected was not considered. Upstates were discovered by comparing the threshold crossing points of two signals: a delta-band filtered signal (0.5-4 Hz) and population spike

activity. Two dynamic thresholds 'a' and 'b' were used to identify candidate upstates in the delta-band filtered signal:

$$a = m + \frac{\sigma}{1.5}$$
$$b = m + \frac{\sigma}{0.8}$$

Where m is the centered moving median measured using 60 s windows and σ is the standard deviation of the signal within the first five minutes of recording (baseline) (Matlab function movmedian). To account for non-stationaries in the data, the median was used instead of the mean. Candidates shorter than 200 ms were removed, and multiple candidates occurring within a 300 ms window were joined together to identify a candidate upstate. Subsequently the threshold 'b' was used to separate upstates occurring in close proximity: if the signal within one candidate crossed the threshold 'b' in more than one point then the candidate upstate was split in two at the midpoint between the two threshold crossings. Candidate upstates were eventually validated if the candidate's population spike activity (calculated in 100 ms windows) exceeded a threshold of one σ (calculated during the baseline).

Slice preparation

We prepared acute near horizontal slices (~15° off the horizontal plane) of the medial entorhinal cortex (mEC) from C57Bl/6 mice. Animals were decapitated following isoflurane anesthesia. The brains were quickly removed and placed in ice-cold (~4° C) ACSF (pH 7.4) containing (in mM) 85 NaCl, 25 NaHCO3, 75 Sucrose, 10 Glucose, 2.5 KCl, 1.25 NaH2PO4, 3.5MgSO4, 0.5 CaCl2, and aerated with 95% O2, 5% CO2. Tissue blocks containing the brain region of interest were mounted on a vibratome (Leica VT 1200, Leica Microsystems), cut at 400 μ m thickness, and incubated at 35 °C for 30 min. The slices were then transferred to ACSF containing (in mM) 85 NaCl, 25 NaHCO3, 75 Sucrose, 10 Glucose, 2.5 KCl, 1.25 NaH2O4, 3.5 MgSO4, 0.5 CaCl2. The slices were stored at room temperature in a submerged chamber for 1-5 hr before being transferred to the recording chamber.

In vitro recording

In order to perform whole-cell recordings slices were transferred to a submersion style recording chamber located on the stage of an upright, fixed-stage microscope (BX51WI, Olympus) equipped with a water immersion objective (×60, Olympus) and a near-infrared charge-coupled device (CCD) camera. The slices were perfused with ACSF (~35 °C bubbled with 95 % O2-5 % CO2) at 3-5 ml/ min to maintain neuronal health throughout the slice. The ACSF had the same composition as the incubation solution except for the concentrations of calcium and magnesium, which were reduced to 1.2 and 1.0

mM, respectively. Recording electrodes with impedance of 3-5 M Ω were pulled from borosilicate glass capillaries (Harvard Apparatus, Kent, UK; 1.5 mm OD) using a micropipette electrode puller (DMZ Universal Puller). The intracellular solution contained the following (in mM): 135 K-gluconate, 6 KCl, 2 MgCl2, 0.2 EGTA, 5 Na2- phosphocreatine, 2 Na2-ATP, 0.5 Na2-GTP, 10 HEPES buffer, and 0.2% biocytin. The pH was adjusted to 7.2 with KOH. Recordings were performed using Multiclamp 700A/B amplifiers (Molecular Devices, San Jose, California). The seal resistance was >1 G Ω . Capacitance compensation was maximal and bridge balance adjusted. Access resistance was constantly monitored. Signals were filtered at 6 kHz, sampled at 20 kHz, and digitized using the Digidata 1550 and pClamp 10 (Molecular Devices, San Jose, California). Activation light was delivered by a 460 nm laser (DPSS lasers, Santa Clara, California) using a 460–480 nm bandpass excitation filter. Stimulation consisted of 500 ms pulses at 1 Hz.

Stimulation experiments were performed using a bipolar micro-electrode (glass pipette filled with ACSF solution, wrapped by a fine grounding wire) connected to an isolated voltage stimulator (ISO-Flex, A.M.P.I., Israel). A 4x objective (Olympus) was used to visually guide the stimulating electrode into the mEC. Stimulation power was adjusted to achieve consistent upstate generation during baseline (> 95%). Each stimulus had a duration of 50 μ s and the inter-stimulus interval was 8-10 seconds.

In vitro analysis

In vitro upstates were detected in Matlab using an algorithm similar to the one described in the *in vivo analysis* method section. We used a coincident detection in two signals. In multicellular recordings we used the membrane potential of 2 cells, in single cell recordings we used membrane potential and the envelope of the gamma filtered trace (50-250 Hz), as upstates are characterized by an increase in gamma activity (Neske, 2015).

The baseline condition was defined as the last 120 s before drug application, while the post-drug application condition was defined as the 120 s of recording after drug application (Total recording duration: 600 s).

Excitatory (Exc), fast-spiking (FS) and low-threshold spiking (LTS) neurons were classified using Gaussian mixture models (GMM) with a soft clustering approach in Matlab. Input resistance (R_{in}), Δ after-hyperpolarization (Δ AHP), sag, rheobase, spike width and resting potential (RP) were extracted from each neuron and used in the classification. The first two components of the principal component analysis (PCA) were used to fit the data to a Gaussian mixture model distribution. Initial values were set according to the k-means algorithm with centroid positioned at x and y position: 5, 0; -15, -15; -15, 10. This centroid were placed according to the loadings of the PCA to identify 3 clusters with the following main features:

- Cluster 1 (putative Exc): high spike width, low AHP, low rheobase.
- Cluster 2 (putative FS): low spike width, low SAG, high rheobase, low R_{in}.
- Cluster 3 (putative LTS): low spike width, high SAG, high AHP, high R_{in}.

Covariance matrices were diagonal and not shared. Neurons with a posterior probability of belonging to any of the three clusters of < 90% were discarded from further analysis (1/49).

While the majority of Sst-interneurons display LTS features, a minority (~10%) belong to the FS group (Urban-Ciecko et al., 2015). To distinguish FS and LTS interneurons in the Sst-Td Tomato mice, we employed the GMM with posterior probability threshold of 90%. Only LTS Sst neurons were considered for further analysis.

Histological analysis

For the *post-mortem* electrode track reconstructions of the *in vivo* recordings, mice were not perfused; rather, brains were extracted from the skull, post-fixed in 4% PFA overnight at 4°C and afterwards cut with a vibratome (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar Germany) in 100 µM thick sequential sagittal slices. Images were taken using a 1.25x objective and stitched together using the microscope software (BX61, Olympus). Afterwards we used AllenCCF code (<u>https://github.com/cortex-lab/allenCCF</u>) to identify electrode shank location (Shamash et al., 2018).

For the anatomical reconstructions of recorded cells *in vitro*, brain slices were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (PB) for at least 24 hours at 4°C. After being washed three times in 0.1 M PBS, slices were then incubated in PBS containing 1% Triton X-100 and 5% normal goat serum for 4 hr at room temperature (RT). To visualize biocytin-filled cells we used Streptavidin Alexa 488 conjugate (1:500, Invitrogen Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, RRID:AB_2315383). WFS1 (1:1000, Rabbit, Proteintech, IL, USA, RRID:AB_2880717) was used in a subset of experiments to visualize the L2/L3 border, and Sst (1:1000, Rat, Bachem, Switzerland, RRID:AB_2890072) was used in the 5-HT_{2A}R localization analysis. Slices were incubated in the PBS solution containing 0.5% Triton X-100, Alexa fluor 488, Alexa fluor 555 and Alexa fluor 647 (Invitrogen Corporation, Carlsbad, CA) according to the number of antibodies used. Slices were mounted in Fluoroshield (Sigma-Aldrich) under coverslips 2-3 hr after incubation with the secondary antibodies and stored at 4 °C.

Labeled cells were visualized using 20x or 40x objectives on a confocal microscope system (SP8, Leica, RRID:SCR_018169). For the 5-HT_{2A}R localization analysis, images of the whole EC were acquired and stitched together using the auto stitching method, without smoothing. Z stacks were acquired every 30 μ M. The image stacks obtained were registered and combined in Fiji (RRID:SCR_002285) to form a

montage of the sections. Cell counting was executed using the Fiji multi-point tool. X-Y-Z coordinates of each 5-HT_{2A}R-EGFP positive cell were exported to Matlab and subsequently, using custom written code in Matlab, we semi-automatically inspected each cell for colocalization between EGFP(5-HT_{2A}R) and Sst.

Statistical Analysis

All datasets were tested to determine normality of the distribution either using D'Agostino-Pearson omnibus normality test or Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Student's t-test and one-way ANOVA were used for testing mean differences in normally distributed data. Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test and Kruskal-Wallis were used for non-normally distributed datasets. Dunn-Sidak multiple comparison test was used to compare datasets with 3 or more groups. Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to compare cumulative distributions. Statistical analysis was performed using Prism (6.01, RRID:SCR_002798) and Matlab. All data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Asterisks in figures represent p-values smaller than 0.05, unless stated otherwise in the legend.

2.3 Results

Effect of 5-HT on SOs in mEC in vitro

We recorded slow oscillations *in vitro* in mEC layer 2/3, following a protocol already established in other studies (Tahvildari et al., 2012). Brain slices were perfused with an extracellular solution containing Mg^{2+} and Ca^{2+} in concentrations similar to physiological conditions. With this method we could reliably detect SOs reminiscent of the *in vivo* network activity. We always recorded at least two (and up to four) cells at the same time to confirm that activity recorded was indeed shared across the network, as expected in the case of SOs. We automated the upstates detection via custom code written



Figure 1. Recording of SOs *in vitro* (A) Biocytin staining of four simultaneously recorded cells shown in (B) WFS1 expression (in red) delimits L2/3 border. (B) Intracellular recordings showing synchronous upstate events in 4 simultaneously recorded cells before (left) and after (right) 5-HT application. Scale bars: 1: 7.5 mV, 2: 25 mV, 3: 25 mV, 4: 10 mV; 10 s.

in Matlab. Layer 3 cells consistently showed the largest voltage deflection (Figure 1B), confirming previous studies (Neske, 2015). For this reason, it was easier to discern up/down state transitions and automated detection was focused on this type of cells.

To investigate the effect of 5-HT on SOs, we applied 5-HT (5 μ M) while recording cells entrained in SOs. 5-HT caused a reliable suppression of network activity (Figure 2C). The suppression was reversible



Figure 2. Effect of 5-HT on SOs *in vitro.* (C) Upstate raster plot before and after 5-HT application, orange box represents 5-HT application (n = 17, $p < 10^{-4}$, Wilcoxon signed rank test). (D) Representative recording showing the temporary inhibitory effect of 5-HT on SOs in two simultaneously recorded cells. Scale bars: 5 min, 20 mV. upon washout of 5-HT (Figure 2D). Next, we investigated whether 5-HT could also suppress evoked activity, similarly, 5-HT had a potent inhibitory effect on the activity elicited by electrical stimulation (Figure 3) that was reversible after wash-out of 5-HT. Increasing the stimulation intensity did not rescue



Figure 3. 5-HT suppresses evoked upstates *in vitro.* (A) Experimental protocol: recording and stimulation electrode were placed in mEC layer 3, stimulation electrode was located towards the lateral side of the slice. (B) Effect of electrical stimulation before (black) and after 5-HT application (orange). 5-HT consistently suppressed spiking. Increasing the stimulation power up to 10x (n = 40/80 in 4 slices) had no rescue effect. Top: voltage responses to electrical stimulation of a representative neuron. Middle: summary spike raster plot before and after 5-HT application. Bottom: spike rate line histogram (C) Scatter plot showing area (top, n = 8 neurons, mean control = 16.22 ± 0.80 , mean_{5-HT} = 1.24 ± 0.97 , p < 10^{-4} , Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test) and duration (bottom, n = 8 neurons, mean control = 1.92 ± 0.07 , mean_{5-HT} = 0.24 ± 0.01 , p < 10^{-4} , Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test) of evoked upstates before (black) and after 5-HT application (orange). (D) Representative voltage responses to 1 second 4 Hz stimulation following wash-in (left) and wash-out (right) of 5-HT. 5-HT prevents spiking from input summation.

upstate generation, indicating that a lack of excitation alone cannot explain the suppressive effect of 5-HT on SO.

Suppression of activity can have either an intrinsic or synaptic origin (Turrigiano, 2011). A substantial subset of EC excitatory neurons is known to express 5-HT_{1A} receptor (5-HT_{1A}R) and hyperpolarize upon 5-HT application via activation of G protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium (GIRK) channels (Schmitz et al., 1998, Chalmers and Watson, 1991). The suppression of SOs by 5-HT, however, was not influenced by blocking 5-HT_{1A}R (WAY 100635, 100 nM) (Figure 4).



Figure 4. 5-HT_{2A}**Rs are involved in 5-HT mediated SOs suppression** *in vitro*. (A) Top: upstate raster plot during application of WAY 100635 (5-HT_{1A} antagonist) + 5-HT. Bottom: change in RP in putative excitatory cells after application of WAY 100635 (5-HT_{1A} antagonist) + 5-HT (n = 25 cells). (B) Top: upstate raster plot during application of ketanserin (5-HT_{2A} antagonist) + 5-HT. Bottom: change in RP in putative excitatory cells after application of ketanserin (5-HT_{2A} antagonist) + 5-HT (n = 21 cells). (C) Top: upstate raster plot during application of a-methyl-5-HT (5-HT₂ agonist). Bottom: change in RP in putative excitatory cells after application of α -methyl-5-HT (5-HT₂ agonist). Bottom: change in RP in putative excitatory cells after application of α -methyl-5-HT (5-HT₂ agonist). Bottom: change in RP in putative excitatory cells after application of α -methyl-5-HT (5-HT₂ agonist) (n = 11 cells). (D) Dot plot showing change in RP for each pharmacological condition (5-HT: -4.52 ± 0.64 mV, WAY + 5-HT: -2.09 ± 0.47 mV, ketanserin + 5-HT: -3.68 ± 0.60 mV and α -methyl-5-HT: -1.67 ± 1.13 mV; p = 0.0329, Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test). (E) Dot plot showing teach pharmacological condition (5-HT: 95 ± 4 %, WAY + 5-HT: 100 ± 0 %, ketanserin + 5-HT: 57 ± 10.1 % and α -methyl-5-HT: 100 ± 0 %; p < 10⁻⁴, Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test).

Blocking 5-HT₃R (tropisetron, 1 μ M), the receptor that characterizes one of the three main groups of interneurons, also did not have any impact on SOs suppression induced by 5-HT. Similarly, application of the 5-HT₃R agonist m-CPBG (50 μ M) did not have any effect on SOs (Figure 5).



Figure 5. 5-HT₃ receptor is not involved in 5-HT mediated SOs suppression. (A) Top: upstate raster plot during application of m-CPBG (5-HT3 agonist). Bottom: histogram of upstate incidence before and after m-CPBG application (n= 6, baseline: 1.04 ± 0.19 upstates/10s, m-CPBG: 1.11 ± 0.21 upstates/10s). Patches represent 95% confidence interval, lines represent standard deviation. (B) Top: upstate raster plot during application of tropisetron (5-HT3 antagonist) + 5-HT. Bottom: histogram of upstate incidence before and after tropisetron + 5-HT application (n= 6, baseline: 1.23 ± 0.18 upstates/10s, tropisetron + 5-HT: 0.01 ± 0.01 upstates/10s). patches represent 95% confidence interval, lines represent standard deviation.

In contrast, blocking 5-HT_{2A}R with the selective antagonist ketanserin (1 μ M) (Preller et al., 2018) strongly reduced the suppression power of 5-HT on SOs from 95 ± 4% to 57 ± 10.1% (Figure 4). The remaining suppression can be possibly explained by the activation of 5-HT_{1A}R on excitatory cells. Selective activation of 5-HT_{2A}R by α -methyl-5-HT (5 μ M) mimicked the suppression of SOs observed after 5-HT wash-in (Figure 4). Together, these results point to the importance of 5-HT_{2A}R in the suppression of SOs. 5-HT_{2A}R activation is known to cause an increase in intracellular calcium and

consequent depolarization of the resting potential (RP) (Nichols and Nichols, 2008). Accordingly, after 5-HT application, we found that a small group of neurons was depolarized (n=6/48, 12,5%) (Figure 6).



Figure 6. LTS neurons are depolarized by 5-HT. (B) PCA projection plot color-coded according to Δ RP after 5-HT application. Inset shows a recording from one LTS neuron during 5-HT application. Scale bars: 20 mV, 25 s. Dotted line showing -70 mV. (C) PCA projection plot color-coded according to Δ spikes/s after 5-HT application.

Surprisingly the activated cells showed similar electrophysiological features: high input resistance, SAG, delta AHP and low rheobase and spike width. This profile is consistent with a low threshold spiking identity (LTS). Knowing that a substantial proportion of LTS neurons express Sst (Tremblay et al., 2016, Gibson et al., 1999), we performed targeted patch-clamp recordings using a mouse line expressing tdTomato specifically in Sst-expressing interneurons (Figure 7H). A subgroup of Sst interneurons are FS cells (Urban-Ciecko et al., 2018), only LTS Sst interneurons were considered in the following analysis. Sst interneurons depolarized upon 5-HT application (n=19, Δ RP: 7.5 ± 1.23 mV) (Figure 7I-L) and in some cases continued to spike while SOs were suppressed (n= 8/17, 47.05%, mean spiking rate = 3.03 ± 0.39 spikes/s). This effect was blocked by ketanserin (n = 22) (Figure 7L).

These results suggest that Sst interneurons may provide the synaptic inhibition required for the suppression of SOs.



Figure 7. Sst interneurons are activated by 5-HT. (H) Biocytin staining of cells recorded in Sst-tdTomato mouse. Biocytin in green, tdTomato in red. Scale bar: 50 μ m. (I) Representative recording of a Sst interneuron during 5-HT application. Scale bars: 10 mV, 30 s. (L) Average RP of Sst interneurons during 5-HT (red) and ketanserin + 5-HT (blue) application, orange bar represents 5-HT (5-HT: n = 19, ketanserin + 5-HT: n = 22).

Sst interneurons mediate the suppression of SOs by 5-HT in vitro

To evaluate the contribution of Sst interneurons to the 5-HT-mediated silencing of SOs we used an opto- and pharmacogenetic approach. First, we transgenically expressed channelrhodopsin-2 (ChR2) in Sst interneurons (Figure 8A). Light-stimulation of ChR2- expressing Sst interneurons *in vitro*

suppressed SOs consistently (Figure 8D-F). Expectedly, upstate associated spiking was also diminished (Figure 8C, E, F). At the end of the light stimulation, spontaneous upstates immediately reoccurred, in line with a critical role of Sst interneurons in the modulation of SOs (Fanselow et al., 2008, Funk et al., 2017, Niethard et al., 2018). We acknowledge that activation of PV interneurons can cause a similar suppression (Zucca et al., 2017). While this experiment establishes the ability of Sst interneurons to suppress SOs, it does not causally link Sst interneuron activation to the suppression of SOs induced by 5-HT.



Figure 8. Sst interneurons activation suppresses SO. (A) Experimental protocol: Sst interneurons expressing ChR2 are activated by light during intracellular recording of L3 neurons in EC. (B) Representative recordings from a L3 neuron during Sst interneuron activation. Scale bars: 10 mV, 0.5 s. (C) Spikes raster (top) and density plot (bottom) during light stimulation. (D) Upstate raster (top) and density plot (bottom) during light stimulation. (E) Left: spike frequency during baseline light stimulation (n=14; p < 0.001, Wilcoxon signed rank test). Right: upstate incidence during baseline and light stimulation (n=14; p < 0.001, Wilcoxon signed rank test). Patches represent 95% confidence interval, lines represent standard deviation. (F) Left: spike probability polar plot during Sst interneurons light activation. Right: upstate probability polar plot during Sst interneurons light activation. Note the absence of both spiking activity and upstates during Sst interneurons activation.

Therefore, we generated a transgenic mouse line carrying a Cre-conditional expression cassette of the pharmacogenetic silencer hM4Di (Armbruster et al., 2007). Homozygous Cre-conditional hM4Di transgenic mice and Sst-Cre mice were bred to obtain heterozygous Sst-Cre/hM4Di offspring, which allow specific inhibition of Sst interneuron activity using Clozapine-N-Oxide (CNO). Following

application of 5-HT we observed a strong reduction of upstate incidence, which was partially restored by subsequent application of CNO (Figure 9 A-B).



Figure 9. Sst interneurons mediate the effect of 5-HT on SO. (A) Upstate raster plot during 5-HT and subsequent CNO application. Orange box represents 5-HT, purple boxes represent CNO. Note the appearance of upstates after CNO application. (B) Upstate incidence du

Activation of 5-HT_{1A}R on excitatory cells by 5-HT and the resulting decreased network excitation drive might account for the fact that the incidence of upstates did not completely return to the baseline level upon CNO wash-in. In summary, while activation of Sst interneurons either via 5-HT or directly by ChR2 suppresses SOs, the pharmacogenetic inactivation of Sst interneurons weakens the effect of 5-HT on SOs.

Effect of 5-HT on SOs in mEC in anesthetized mice

Next, we focus on investigating the effect of 5-HT on SOs in anesthetized mice. 5-HT does not cross the blood brain barrier (Hardebo and Owman, 1980) therefore we relied on compounds that induce the release of endogenous 5-HT present in the brain. MDMA is arguably the most famous compound with such characteristics, being a popular recreational drug and having shown promising results in the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Inserra et al., 2021). We recorded SOs in mEC using silicon microelectrodes. Under urethane anesthesia, EC, like the rest of the cortex, displays SOs. As expected, we found that upstates were present synchronously in the local field potential (LFP) of all the recording channels (Figure 10), and that every upstate coincided with large increases in population

spiking activity.

To understand the effect of 5-HT on SOs we used MDMA, a potent presynaptic 5-HT releaser and popular recreational drug (Green et al., 2003) that has shown promising results in the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Inserra et al., 2021).



Figure 10. In vivo upstates features. (A) Microelectrode implant location and microelectrode features. 64 channels ($n_{animals}=15$, $n_{shanks}=4$) and 32 channels ($n_{animals}=3$, $n_{shanks}=2$) microelectrodes were used in this study, analysis shown in this figure excludes data recorded with 32 channels probe due to the different spatial configuration of the channels. (B) Average upstate voltage deflection for each channel of the microelectrode. For experiments with drug application (either MDMA or Fen), only baseline upstates were taken in account. (C) Left: Average upstate voltage deflection grouped by shank. Right: Average upstate voltage deflection grouped by depths (right). Insets show the normalized correlation between averages in the two different groups.

Intraperitoneal injections of MDMA (1.25 mg/kg) strongly inhibited upstates generation (Figure 11E-H), decreased power in the low frequencies (1-20 Hz) (Figure 11F), and reduced population spiking activity (Figure 1G-I). In addition to 5-HT, MDMA has been shown to induce the release of other neuromodulators, including dopamine and noradrenaline (NE) (Green et al., 2003). For this reason, we repeated the experiment using Fen (5 mg/kg), a more selective 5-HT releaser used in other studies with the intent of disentangle the effect of 5-HT (Rothman and Baumann, 2002, Baumann et al., 2000, Heifets et al., 2019). Fen injections into the peritoneal cavity had a comparable significant suppressive effect on

both upstates and population spiking activity (Figure 11H-I). These findings suggest that 5-HT is involved in modulating oscillatory activity and suppressing low-frequency fluctuations.



Figure 11. MDMA/Fen inhibit SOs in anesthetized mice. (E) Top: Cyan lines represent detected upstates. Bottom: LFP (black) and average upstate incidence per minute (cyan). Pink dotted line represents MDMA application time. (F) Fourier transformation and (G) instantaneous population activity for the recording shown in E. (H) Mean upstate incidence after saline (control), Fen or MDMA application (control: n = 5, Fen: n = 6, MDMA: n = 7; $p < 10^{-4}$, unpaired t test with Holm-Šidák correction). (I) Mean normalized spike rate after saline (control), Fen or MDMA application (control: n = 5, Fen: n = 6, MDMA: n = 7; $p < 10^{-4}$, unpaired t test with Holm-Šidák correction).

Neurons activated by MDMA in vivo are consistent with Sst identity

In addition to the LFP signal, we recorded the activity of 355 single units within the EC. Because of the similar effect of MDMA and Fen on spike rates (Figure 11I), we pooled all units recorded in both types of experiments. We found that drug injections differentially affected spiking rates (Figure 12A) of recorded units: while spiking decreased in most units ('non-activated'), a small group of units ('activated') responded in the opposite fashion (n=31/355, 8,7%).

We then calculated the trough-to-peak (TP) latency of the spike waveforms, which has been consistently used as a metric to classify units. In accordance with previous studies (Senzai et al., 2019, Roux et al., 2014), we found a clear bimodal distribution of TP latencies distinguishing putative excitatory (Exc) and fast-spiking inhibitory (Int) groups. The cumulative distribution of TP latencies of 'activated' units was significantly different from both Exc and Int groups (Figure 13B). Specifically, the average TP latency of 'activated' units was situated in between the Int and Exc groups (Figure 12 B-D), possibly suggesting a non-FS interneuron identity (Trainito et al., 2019, Kvitsiani et al., 2013) in accordance with our *in vitro* findings. Notably the intermediate TP latency of "activated" units is not the result of an equal distribution between high and low values. Units with intermediate TP latency (between 0.4 and 0.6 ms)

are unique in showing a 40% to 80% likelihood of being "activated" by drug application (Figure 12B).



Figure 12 Divergent unit responses to MDMA/Fen application. (A) Spike rate of the activated units versus all the other units during MDMA/Fen application (activated: n = 31, Non-activated: n = 324). (B) Top: TP latencies color-coded by group. Middle: cumulative distribution of TP latencies (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, p Activated vs Int < 10-4, p Activated vs Exc < 10-4). Bottom: bar plot representing probability distribution of TP latencies, on the right y axis dashed line representing the percentage of 'activated' units per TP latency bin. (C) Distribution of units according to trough-to-peak (TP) latencies and repolarization time. Units were classified as putative interneurons (Int, blue) and putative excitatory neurons (Exc, dark gray) according to a threshold at 0.55 ms; activated units (red) could belong to either group but were mostly intermediate as shown by the covariance (2 STD) of each group (Ellipses). Units recorded during control experiments are represented by empty circles. (D) Waveforms of recorded units (n= 355). Units were divided into "putative excitatory" (black) and "putative inhibitory" (blue) neurons according to TP latencies. Units activated by either MDMA or Fen application are represented in red. Inset shows the average waveform for each group. Scale bars: 0.5 ms.

2.4 Discussion

In this study we show that the substitute amphetamines MDMA and Fen inhibit default cortical network oscillations *in vivo* in the mEC. Moreover, using an opto- and pharmacogenetic approach *in vitro*, we demonstrate that Sst interneurons, activated by 5-HT_{2A}R, contribute to this suppression.

Organization of cortical activity is brain state-dependent, ranging continuously from "synchronized" to "desynchronized" states (Harris and Thiele, 2011). The prototypical synchronized state is represented

by SOs, which are at one end of this continuum. Our findings, which are consistent with previous research (Puig et al., 2010, Grandjean et al., 2019), show that 5-HT suppresses synchronized cortical activity, and that Sst interneurons play a role in this suppression.

5-HT have been observed to have a net inhibitory effect in various cortical areas (Grandjean et al., 2019, Seillier et al., 2017, Azimi et al., 2020), excitation of Sst neurons by 5-HT can partially explain that, moreover, it can explain why the inhibition strength is linearly correlated to 5-HT_{2A}R expression (Grandjean et al., 2019). Previous studies have reported either 5-HT_{2A}R dependent inhibition or 5-HT_{2A}R dependent activation of interneurons in the prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Abi-Saab et al., 1999, Ashby et al., 1990, Athilingam et al., 2017), piriform cortex (Marek and Aghajanian, 1994, Sheldon and Aghajanian, 1990), cingulate cortex (Zhou and Hablitz, 1999), cochlear nucleus (Tang and Trussell, 2017), amygdala (Sengupta et al., 2017), olfactory bulb (Petzold et al., 2009, Hardy et al., 2005), visual cortex (Michaiel et al., 2019, Azimi et al., 2020) and hippocampus (Wyskiel and Andrade, 2016).

5-HT levels in the brain, similarly to other neuromodulators, are synchronized to the sleep wake cycle, with higher levels present during the waking state (Oikonomou et al., 2019). How does this notion relate to activation of Sst interneurons by 5-HT_{2A}R? A limitation of our study is the absence of data in naturalistic conditions, with anesthesia potentially being a confounding factor (Adesnik et al., 2012). We can nonetheless speculate that Sst interneurons should be more active during states with higher 5-HT levels (wake>SWS>REM). A previous study directly measuring the activity of various neuronal classes across different states seems to support this idea. Sst interneurons in the dorsal cortical surface display their highest activity during waking states, lower activity during SWS and lowest activity during REM (Niethard et al., 2016). Following pharmacological release of 5-HT in vivo we observed increased spiking activity in a subgroup of neurons whose waveform features are compatible with Sst interneurons. Our in vitro data using 5-HT at a concentration commonly used in the field (Gorinski et al., 2019, Wang et al., 2016, Huang et al., 2009) shows that Sst interneurons can be activated by 5-HT_{2A}R, however, recordings during natural sleep and wake conditions in combination with optotagging will be needed to demonstrate conclusively that Sst interneurons are activated by 5-HT in physiological conditions in vivo. Potential differences between physiological and pharmacological 5-HT release are especially of interest considering the reported efficacy of MDMA in the treatment of PTSD and its recently approved status as breakthrough therapy (Inserra et al., 2021, Mithoefer et al., 2019).

Besides its involvement in various physiological brain processes, 5-HT is also associated with the etiology of various psychiatric disorders and the same applies for Sst interneurons (Pantazopoulos et al., 2017, Lin and Sibille, 2015). As already discussed in the introduction, 5-HT is linked to the psychological effect of many psychotropic drugs; specifically, 5-HT_{2A}R activation has been reported to be essential for the psychological effects induced by various psychedelics (Nichols, 2016), and in the case of MDMA, has been linked to perceptual and emotional alterations (Liechti et al., 2000, Kuypers et al., 2018). Broadband reduction in oscillatory power, triggered by 5-HT_{2A}R, seems to be linked to the

subjective effect of serotonergic drugs (Carhart-Harris et al., 2016, Carhart-Harris and Friston, 2019) and has been consistently observed in humans and rodents following administration of MDMA (Frei et al., 2001, Lansbergen et al., 2011) or various other 5-HT_{2A}R agonists (Kometer et al., 2015, Muthukumaraswamy et al., 2013, Carhart-Harris et al., 2016, Wood et al., 2012). The link between 5-HT_{2A}R and perception is further supported by the fact that several routinely used antipsychotic drugs are potent 5-HT_{2A}R antagonists (Marek et al., 2003, Meltzer, 1999). While the most recent attempts to explain the psychological effects of 5-HT_{2A}R activation focus on the increased spiking of cortical pyramidal neurons in the deep layers (Carhart-Harris and Friston, 2019, Nichols, 2016), our study suggests that Sst interneurons may also play a role. Sst interneurons, in contrast to PV interneurons, form synapses on the dendrites of their target cell (Tremblay et al., 2016). A wealth of evidence suggests that active dendritic processing in cortical pyramidal neurons has a critical influence on sensory perception (Takahashi et al., 2016, Murayama et al., 2009, Smith et al., 2013, Ranganathan et al., 2018) and, in accordance with their unique anatomical properties, Sst interneurons strongly influence dendritic computations and directly modulate perceptual thresholds (Takahashi et al., 2016).

We propose that the novel link between 5-HT_{2A}R and Sst interneurons might help elucidate the mechanisms underlying a host of psychiatric disorders and contribute to our understanding of how serotonergic drugs exert their psychological effects.

3 Bibliography

- ABI-SAAB, W. M., BUBSER, M., ROTH, R. H. & DEUTCH, A. Y. 1999. 5-HT2 receptor regulation of extracellular GABA levels in the prefrontal cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 20, 92-6.
- ADESNIK, H., BRUNS, W., TANIGUCHI, H., HUANG, Z. J. & SCANZIANI, M. 2012. A neural circuit for spatial summation in visual cortex. *Nature*, 490, 226-231.
- ARMBRUSTER, B. N., LI, X., PAUSCH, M. H., HERLITZE, S. & ROTH, B. L. 2007. Evolving the lock to fit the key to create a family of G protein-coupled receptors potently activated by an inert ligand. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104, 5163-8.
- ASHBY, C. R., JR., JIANG, L. H., KASSER, R. J. & WANG, R. Y. 1990. Electrophysiological characterization of 5-hydroxytryptamine2 receptors in the rat medial prefrontal cortex. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 252, 171-8.
- ATHILINGAM, J. C., BEN-SHALOM, R., KEESHEN, C. M., SOHAL, V. S. & BENDER, K. J. 2017. Serotonin enhances excitability and gamma frequency temporal integration in mouse prefrontal fast-spiking interneurons. *eLife*, 6, e31991.
- AZIMI, Z., BARZAN, R., SPOIDA, K., SURDIN, T., WOLLENWEBER, P., MARK, M. D., HERLITZE, S. & JANCKE, D. 2020. Separable gain control of ongoing and evoked activity in the visual cortex by serotonergic input. *eLife*, 9, e53552.
- BARNES, N. M. & SHARP, T. 1999. A review of central 5-HT receptors and their function. *Neuropharmacology*, 38, 1083-152.
- BAUMANN, M. H., AYESTAS, M. A., DERSCH, C. M., BROCKINGTON, A., RICE, K. C. & ROTHMAN, R. B. 2000. Effects of phentermine and fenfluramine on extracellular dopamine and serotonin in rat nucleus accumbens: therapeutic implications. *Synapse*, 36, 102-13.
- BEED, P., DE FILIPPO, R., HOLMAN, C., JOHENNING, F. W., LEIBOLD, C., CAPUTI, A., MONYER, H. & SCHMITZ, D. 2020. Layer 3 Pyramidal Cells in the Medial Entorhinal Cortex Orchestrate Up-Down States and Entrain the Deep Layers Differentially. *Cell Reports*, 33, 108470.
- BEIERLEIN, M., GIBSON, J. R. & CONNORS, B. W. 2003. Two dynamically distinct inhibitory networks in layer 4 of the neocortex. *J Neurophysiol*, 90, 2987-3000.
- CARHART-HARRIS, R., GIRIBALDI, B., WATTS, R., BAKER-JONES, M., MURPHY-BEINER, A., MURPHY, R., MARTELL, J., BLEMINGS, A., ERRITZOE, D. & NUTT, D. J. 2021. Trial of Psilocybin versus Escitalopram for Depression. *N Engl J Med*, 384, 1402-1411.
- CARHART-HARRIS, R. L. & FRISTON, K. J. 2019. REBUS and the Anarchic Brain: Toward a Unified Model of the Brain Action of Psychedelics. *Pharmacol Rev*, 71, 316-344.
- CARHART-HARRIS, R. L., MUTHUKUMARASWAMY, S., ROSEMAN, L., KAELEN, M., DROOG, W., MURPHY, K., TAGLIAZUCCHI, E., SCHENBERG, E. E., NEST, T., ORBAN, C., LEECH, R., WILLIAMS, L. T., WILLIAMS, T. M., BOLSTRIDGE, M., SESSA, B., MCGONIGLE, J., SERENO, M. I., NICHOLS, D., HELLYER, P. J., HOBDEN, P., EVANS, J., SINGH, K. D., WISE, R. G., CURRAN, H. V., FEILDING, A. & NUTT, D. J. 2016. Neural correlates of the LSD experience revealed by multimodal neuroimaging. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 113, 4853-8.
- CHALMERS, D. T. & WATSON, S. J. 1991. Comparative anatomical distribution of 5-HT1A receptor mRNA and 5-HT1A binding in rat brain--a combined in situ hybridisation/in vitro receptor autoradiographic study. *Brain Res*, 561, 51-60.
- CRAIG, M. T., MAYNE, E. W., BETTLER, B., PAULSEN, O. & MCBAIN, C. J. 2013. Distinct roles of GABAB1a- and GABAB1b-containing GABAB receptors in spontaneous and evoked termination of persistent cortical activity. *J Physiol*, 591, 835-43.
- DE FILIPPO, R., ROST, B. R., STUMPF, A., COOPER, C., TUKKER, J. J., HARMS, C., BEED, P. & SCHMITZ, D. 2021. Somatostatin interneurons activated by 5-HT(2A) receptor suppress slow oscillations in medial entorhinal cortex. *Elife*, 10.

- DISEASE, G. B. D., INJURY, I. & PREVALENCE, C. 2018. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet (London, England)*, 392, 1789-1858.
- FANSELOW, E. E., RICHARDSON, K. A. & CONNORS, B. W. 2008. Selective, state-dependent activation of somatostatin-expressing inhibitory interneurons in mouse neocortex. J Neurophysiol, 100, 2640-52.
- FREI, E., GAMMA, A., PASCUAL-MARQUI, R., LEHMANN, D., HELL, D. & VOLLENWEIDER, F. X. 2001. Localization of MDMA-induced brain activity in healthy volunteers using low resolution brain electromagnetic tomography (LORETA). *Hum Brain Mapp*, 14, 152-65.
- FUNK, C. M., PEELMAN, K., BELLESI, M., MARSHALL, W., CIRELLI, C. & TONONI, G. 2017. Role of Somatostatin-Positive Cortical Interneurons in the Generation of Sleep Slow Waves. J Neurosci, 37, 9132-9148.
- GIBSON, J. R., BEIERLEIN, M. & CONNORS, B. W. 1999. Two networks of electrically coupled inhibitory neurons in neocortex. *Nature*, 402, 75-9.
- GORINSKI, N., BIJATA, M., PRASAD, S., WIRTH, A., ABDEL GALIL, D., ZEUG, A., BAZOVKINA, D., KONDAUROVA, E., KULIKOVA, E., ILCHIBAEVA, T., ZAREBA-KOZIOL, M., PAPALEO, F., SCHEGGIA, D., KOCHLAMAZASHVILI, G., DITYATEV, A., SMYTH, I., KRZYSTYNIAK, A., WLODARCZYK, J., RICHTER, D. W., STREKALOVA, T., SIGRIST, S., BANG, C., HOBUS, L., FIEDLER, J., THUM, T., NAUMENKO, V. S., PANDEY, G. & PONIMASKIN, E. 2019. Attenuated palmitoylation of serotonin receptor 5-HT1A affects receptor function and contributes to depression-like behaviors. *Nature Communications*, 10, 3924.
- GRANDJEAN, J., CORCOBA, A., KAHN, M. C., UPTON, A. L., DENERIS, E. S., SEIFRITZ, E., HELMCHEN, F., MANN, E. O., RUDIN, M. & SAAB, B. J. 2019. A brain-wide functional map of the serotonergic responses to acute stress and fluoxetine. *Nat Commun*, 10, 350.
- GREEN, A. R., MECHAN, A. O., ELLIOTT, J. M., O'SHEA, E. & COLADO, M. I. 2003. The Pharmacology and Clinical Pharmacology of 3,4-Methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA, "Ecstasy"). *Pharmacological Reviews*, 55, 463-508.
- HARDEBO, J. E. & OWMAN, C. 1980. Barrier mechanisms for neurotransmitter monoamines and their precursors at the blood-brain interface. *Ann Neurol*, 8, 1-31.
- HARDY, A., PALOUZIER-PAULIGNAN, B., DUCHAMP, A., ROYET, J. P. & DUCHAMP-VIRET,
 P. 2005. 5-Hydroxytryptamine action in the rat olfactory bulb: in vitro electrophysiological patch-clamp recordings of juxtaglomerular and mitral cells. *Neuroscience*, 131, 717-31.
- HARRIS, K. D. & THIELE, A. 2011. Cortical state and attention. Nat Rev Neurosci, 12, 509-23.
- HASAN, A., FALKAI, P., LEHMANN, I., JANSSEN, B., WOBROCK, T., ZIELASEK, J. & GAEBEL,
 W. 2020. [Revised S3 guidelines on schizophrenia : Developmental process and selected recommendations]. *Der Nervenarzt*, 91, 26-33.
- HEIFETS, B. D., SALGADO, J. S., TAYLOR, M. D., HOERBELT, P., CARDOZO PINTO, D. F., STEINBERG, E. E., WALSH, J. J., SZE, J. Y. & MALENKA, R. C. 2019. Distinct neural mechanisms for the prosocial and rewarding properties of MDMA. *Sci Transl Med*, 11.
- HOYER, D., CLARKE, D. E., FOZARD, J. R., HARTIG, P. R., MARTIN, G. R., MYLECHARANE,
 E. J., SAXENA, P. R. & HUMPHREY, P. P. 1994. International Union of Pharmacology classification of receptors for 5-hydroxytryptamine (Serotonin). *Pharmacol Rev*, 46, 157-203.
- HUANG, C.-C., LIANG, Y.-C., LEE, C.-C., WU, M.-Y. & HSU, K.-S. 2009. Repeated Cocaine Administration Decreases 5-HT2A Receptor-Mediated Serotonergic Enhancement of Synaptic Activity in Rat Medial Prefrontal Cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 34, 1979-1992.
- INSERRA, A., DE GREGORIO, D. & GOBBI, G. 2021. Psychedelics in Psychiatry: Neuroplastic, Immunomodulatory, and Neurotransmitter Mechanisms. *Pharmacol Rev*, 73, 202-277.
- ISOMURA, Y., SIROTA, A., OZEN, S., MONTGOMERY, S., MIZUSEKI, K., HENZE, D. A. & BUZSAKI, G. 2006. Integration and segregation of activity in entorhinal-hippocampal subregions by neocortical slow oscillations. *Neuron*, 52, 871-82.

- KOMETER, M., POKORNY, T., SEIFRITZ, E. & VOLLEINWEIDER, F. X. 2015. Psilocybin-induced spiritual experiences and insightfulness are associated with synchronization of neuronal oscillations. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 232, 3663-76.
- KRISHNAMURTHY, P., SILBERBERG, G. & LANSNER, A. 2012. A Cortical Attractor Network with Martinotti Cells Driven by Facilitating Synapses. *PLOS ONE*, 7, e30752.
- KUYPERS, K. P. C., DE LA TORRE, R., FARRE, M., PIZARRO, N., XICOTA, L. & RAMAEKERS, J. G. 2018. MDMA-induced indifference to negative sounds is mediated by the 5-HT2A receptor. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 235, 481-490.
- KVITSIANI, D., RANADE, S., HANGYA, B., TANIGUCHI, H., HUANG, J. Z. & KEPECS, A. 2013. Distinct behavioural and network correlates of two interneuron types in prefrontal cortex. *Nature*, 498, 363-6.
- LANSBERGEN, M. M., DUMONT, G. J. H., VAN GERVEN, J. M. A., BUITELAAR, J. K. & VERKES, R.-J. 2011. Acute effects of MDMA (3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine) on EEG oscillations: alone and in combination with ethanol or THC (delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol). *Psychopharmacology*, 213, 745-756.
- LIECHTI, M. E., SAUR, M. R., GAMMA, A., HELL, D. & VOLLENWEIDER, F. X. 2000. Psychological and Physiological Effects of MDMA ("Ecstasy") after Pretreatment with the 5-HT2 Antagonist Ketanserin in Healthy Humans. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 23, 396-404.
- LIN, L. C. & SIBILLE, E. 2015. Somatostatin, neuronal vulnerability and behavioral emotionality. *Mol Psychiatry*, 20, 377-87.
- MAREK, G. J. & AGHAJANIAN, G. K. 1994. Excitation of interneurons in piriform cortex by 5hydroxytryptamine: blockade by MDL 100,907, a highly selective 5-HT2A receptor antagonist. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 259, 137-41.
- MAREK, G. J., CARPENTER, L. L., MCDOUGLE, C. J. & PRICE, L. H. 2003. Synergistic action of 5-HT2A antagonists and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 28, 402-12.
- MELAMED, O., BARAK, O., SILBERBERG, G., MARKRAM, H. & TSODYKS, M. 2008. Slow oscillations in neural networks with facilitating synapses. *J Comput Neurosci*, 25, 308-16.
- MELTZER, H. Y. 1999. The role of serotonin in antipsychotic drug action. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 21, 106s-115s.
- MIAO, C., CAO, Q., MOSER, M. B. & MOSER, E. I. 2017. Parvalbumin and Somatostatin Interneurons Control Different Space-Coding Networks in the Medial Entorhinal Cortex. *Cell*, 171, 507-521.e17.
- MICHAIEL, A. M., PARKER, P. R. L. & NIELL, C. M. 2019. A Hallucinogenic Serotonin-2A Receptor Agonist Reduces Visual Response Gain and Alters Temporal Dynamics in Mouse V1. *Cell Rep*, 26, 3475-3483.e4.
- MITHOEFER, M. C., FEDUCCIA, A. A., JEROME, L., MITHOEFER, A., WAGNER, M., WALSH, Z., HAMILTON, S., YAZAR-KLOSINSKI, B., EMERSON, A. & DOBLIN, R. 2019. MDMA-assisted psychotherapy for treatment of PTSD: study design and rationale for phase 3 trials based on pooled analysis of six phase 2 randomized controlled trials. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 236, 2735-2745.
- MURAYAMA, M., PÉREZ-GARCI, E., NEVIAN, T., BOCK, T., SENN, W. & LARKUM, M. E. 2009. Dendritic encoding of sensory stimuli controlled by deep cortical interneurons. *Nature*, 457, 1137-1141.
- MUTHUKUMARASWAMY, S. D., CARHART-HARRIS, R. L., MORAN, R. J., BROOKES, M. J., WILLIAMS, T. M., ERRTIZOE, D., SESSA, B., PAPADOPOULOS, A., BOLSTRIDGE, M., SINGH, K. D., FEILDING, A., FRISTON, K. J. & NUTT, D. J. 2013. Broadband cortical desynchronization underlies the human psychedelic state. *J Neurosci*, 33, 15171-83.
- NAMIKI, S., NORIMOTO, H., KOBAYASHI, C., NAKATANI, K., MATSUKI, N. & IKEGAYA, Y. 2013. Layer III neurons control synchronized waves in the immature cerebral cortex. *J Neurosci*, 33, 987-1001.
- NESKE, G. T. 2015. The Slow Oscillation in Cortical and Thalamic Networks: Mechanisms and Functions. *Front Neural Circuits*, 9, 88.

NICHOLS, D. E. 2016. Psychedelics. Pharmacol Rev, 68, 264-355.

- NICHOLS, D. E. & NICHOLS, C. D. 2008. Serotonin Receptors. Chemical Reviews, 108, 1614-1641.
- NIETHARD, N., HASEGAWA, M., ITOKAZU, T., OYANEDEL, C. N., BORN, J. & SATO, T. R. 2016. Sleep-Stage-Specific Regulation of Cortical Excitation and Inhibition. *Curr Biol*, 26, 2739-2749.
- NIETHARD, N., NGO, H. V., EHRLICH, I. & BORN, J. 2018. Cortical circuit activity underlying sleep slow oscillations and spindles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 115, E9220-e9229.
- NUTT, D. & CARHART-HARRIS, R. 2021. The Current Status of Psychedelics in Psychiatry. JAMA Psychiatry, 78, 121-122.
- OIKONOMOU, G., ALTERMATT, M., ZHANG, R. W., COUGHLIN, G. M., MONTZ, C., GRADINARU, V. & PROBER, D. A. 2019. The Serotonergic Raphe Promote Sleep in Zebrafish and Mice. *Neuron*, 103, 686-701.e8.
- PANTAZOPOULOS, H., WISEMAN, J. T., MARKOTA, M., EHRENFELD, L. & BERRETTA, S. 2017. Decreased Numbers of Somatostatin-Expressing Neurons in the Amygdala of Subjects With Bipolar Disorder or Schizophrenia: Relationship to Circadian Rhythms. *Biol Psychiatry*, 81, 536-547.
- PETZOLD, G. C., HAGIWARA, A. & MURTHY, V. N. 2009. Serotonergic modulation of odor input to the mammalian olfactory bulb. *Nature Neuroscience*, 12, 784-791.
- PRELLER, K. H., BURT, J. B., JI, J. L., SCHLEIFER, C. H., ADKINSON, B. D., STAMPFLI, P., SEIFRITZ, E., REPOVS, G., KRYSTAL, J. H., MURRAY, J. D., VOLLENWEIDER, F. X. & ANTICEVIC, A. 2018. Changes in global and thalamic brain connectivity in LSD-induced altered states of consciousness are attributable to the 5-HT2A receptor. *Elife*, 7.
- PUIG, M. V., WATAKABE, A., USHIMARU, M., YAMAMORI, T. & KAWAGUCHI, Y. 2010. Serotonin modulates fast-spiking interneuron and synchronous activity in the rat prefrontal cortex through 5-HT1A and 5-HT2A receptors. *J Neurosci*, 30, 2211-22.
- RANGANATHAN, G. N., APOSTOLIDES, P. F., HARNETT, M. T., XU, N. L., DRUCKMANN, S.
 & MAGEE, J. C. 2018. Active dendritic integration and mixed neocortical network representations during an adaptive sensing behavior. *Nat Neurosci*, 21, 1583-1590.
- ROTHMAN, R. B. & BAUMANN, M. H. 2002. Therapeutic and adverse actions of serotonin transporter substrates. *Pharmacol Ther*, 95, 73-88.
- ROUX, L., STARK, E., SJULSON, L. & BUZSAKI, G. 2014. In vivo optogenetic identification and manipulation of GABAergic interneuron subtypes. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 26, 88-95.
- RUDY, B., FISHELL, G., LEE, S. & HJERLING-LEFFLER, J. 2011. Three groups of interneurons account for nearly 100% of neocortical GABAergic neurons. *Dev Neurobiol*, 71, 45-61.
- SANCHEZ-VIVES, M. V., MASSIMINI, M. & MATTIA, M. 2017. Shaping the Default Activity Pattern of the Cortical Network. *Neuron*, 94, 993-1001.
- SCHMITZ, D., GLOVELI, T., EMPSON, R. M., DRAGUHN, A. & HEINEMANN, U. 1998. Serotonin reduces synaptic excitation in the superficial medial entorhinal cortex of the rat via a presynaptic mechanism. *J Physiol*, 508 (Pt 1), 119-29.
- SEILLIER, L., LORENZ, C., KAWAGUCHI, K., OTT, T., NIEDER, A., POURRIAHI, P. & NIENBORG, H. 2017. Serotonin Decreases the Gain of Visual Responses in Awake Macaque V1. *J Neurosci*, 37, 11390-11405.
- SENGUPTA, A., BOCCHIO, M., BANNERMAN, D. M., SHARP, T. & CAPOGNA, M. 2017. Control of Amygdala Circuits by 5-HT Neurons via 5-HT and Glutamate Cotransmission. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 37, 1785-1796.
- SENZAI, Y., FERNANDEZ-RUIZ, A. & BUZSAKI, G. 2019. Layer-Specific Physiological Features and Interlaminar Interactions in the Primary Visual Cortex of the Mouse. *Neuron*, 101, 500-513 e5.
- SHAMASH, P., CARANDINI, M., HARRIS, K. & STEINMETZ, N. 2018. A tool for analyzing electrode tracks from slice histology. *bioRxiv*, 447995.
- SHELDON, P. W. & AGHAJANIAN, G. K. 1990. Serotonin (5-HT) induces IPSPs in pyramidal layer cells of rat piriform cortex: evidence for the involvement of a 5-HT2-activated interneuron. *Brain Res*, 506, 62-9.

- SMITH, S. L., SMITH, I. T., BRANCO, T. & HÄUSSER, M. 2013. Dendritic spikes enhance stimulus selectivity in cortical neurons in vivo. *Nature*, 503, 115-120.
- STEFFEN, A., THOM, J., JACOBI, F., HOLSTIEGE, J. & BÄTZING, J. 2020. Trends in prevalence of depression in Germany between 2009 and 2017 based on nationwide ambulatory claims data. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 271, 239-247.
- STERIADE, M., NUNEZ, A. & AMZICA, F. 1993. A novel slow (< 1 Hz) oscillation of neocortical neurons in vivo: depolarizing and hyperpolarizing components. *J Neurosci*, 13, 3252-65.
- TAHVILDARI, B., WOLFEL, M., DUQUE, A. & MCCORMICK, D. A. 2012. Selective functional interactions between excitatory and inhibitory cortical neurons and differential contribution to persistent activity of the slow oscillation. *J Neurosci*, 32, 12165-79.
- TAKAHASHI, N., OERTNER, T. G., HEGEMANN, P. & LARKUM, M. E. 2016. Active cortical dendrites modulate perception. *Science*, 354, 1587-1590.
- TANG, Z.-Q. & TRUSSELL, L. O. 2017. Serotonergic Modulation of Sensory Representation in a Central Multisensory Circuit Is Pathway Specific. *Cell reports*, 20, 1844-1854.
- TRAINITO, C., VON NICOLAI, C., MILLER, E. K. & SIEGEL, M. 2019. Extracellular Spike Waveform Dissociates Four Functionally Distinct Cell Classes in Primate Cortex. *Curr Biol.*
- TREMBLAY, R., LEE, S. & RUDY, B. 2016. GABAergic Interneurons in the Neocortex: From Cellular Properties to Circuits. *Neuron*, 91, 260-92.
- TUKKER, J. J., BEED, P., SCHMITZ, D., LARKUM, M. E. & SACHDEV, R. N. S. 2020. Up and Down States and Memory Consolidation Across Somatosensory, Entorhinal, and Hippocampal Cortices. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 14.
- TURRIGIANO, G. 2011. Too many cooks? Intrinsic and synaptic homeostatic mechanisms in cortical circuit refinement. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 34, 89-103.
- URBAN-CIECKO, J., FANSELOW, E. E. & BARTH, A. L. 2015. Neocortical somatostatin neurons reversibly silence excitatory transmission via GABAb receptors. *Curr Biol*, 25, 722-31.
- URBAN-CIECKO, J., JOUHANNEAU, J. S., MYAL, S. E., POULET, J. F. A. & BARTH, A. L. 2018. Precisely Timed Nicotinic Activation Drives SST Inhibition in Neocortical Circuits. *Neuron*, 97, 611-625.e5.
- VOLLENWEIDER, F. X. & PRELLER, K. H. 2020. Psychedelic drugs: neurobiology and potential for treatment of psychiatric disorders. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 21, 611-624.
- WANG, H., HU, L., LIU, C., SU, Z., WANG, L., PAN, G., GUO, Y. & HE, J. 2016. 5-HT2 receptors mediate functional modulation of GABAa receptors and inhibitory synaptic transmissions in human iPS-derived neurons. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 20033.
- WOLANSKY, T., CLEMENT, E. A., PETERS, S. R., PALCZAK, M. A. & DICKSON, C. T. 2006. Hippocampal Slow Oscillation: A Novel EEG State and Its Coordination with Ongoing Neocortical Activity. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26, 6213.
- WOOD, J., KIM, Y. & MOGHADDAM, B. 2012. Disruption of prefrontal cortex large scale neuronal activity by different classes of psychotomimetic drugs. *J Neurosci*, 32, 3022-31.
- WOOLLEY, D. W. & SHAW, E. 1954. A BIOCHEMICAL AND PHARMACOLOGICAL SUGGESTION ABOUT CERTAIN MENTAL DISORDERS. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 40, 228-231.
- WYSKIEL, D. R. & ANDRADE, R. 2016. Serotonin excites hippocampal CA1 GABAergic interneurons at the stratum radiatum-stratum lacunosum moleculare border. *Hippocampus*, 26, 1107-14.
- ZHOU, F.-M. & HABLITZ, J. J. 1999. Activation of Serotonin Receptors Modulates Synaptic Transmission in Rat Cerebral Cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 82, 2989-2999.
- ZUCCA, S., D'URSO, G., PASQUALE, V., VECCHIA, D., PICA, G., BOVETTI, S., MORETTI, C., VARANI, S., MOLANO-MAZÓN, M., CHIAPPALONE, M., PANZERI, S. & FELLIN, T. 2017. An inhibitory gate for state transition in cortex. *eLife*, 6, e26177.

4 Affidavit

"I, Roberto De Filippo, by personally signing this document in lieu of an oath, hereby affirm that I prepared the submitted dissertation on the topic **Effect of serotonin on slow oscillations in mice** (Wirkung von Serotonin auf slow oscillations bei Mäusen), independently and without the support of third parties, and that I used no other sources and aids than those stated. All parts which are based on the publications or presentations of other authors, either in letter or in spirit, are specified as such in accordance with the citing guidelines. The sections on methodology (in particular regarding practical work, laboratory regulations, statistical processing) and results (in particular regarding figures, charts and tables) are exclusively my responsibility.

Furthermore, I declare that I have correctly marked all of the data, the analyses, and the conclusions generated from data obtained in collaboration with other persons, and that I have correctly marked my own contribution and the contributions of other persons (cf. declaration of contribution). I have correctly marked all texts or parts of texts that were generated in collaboration with other persons.

My contributions to any publications to this dissertation correspond to those stated in the below joint declaration made together with the supervisor. All publications created within the scope of the dissertation comply with the guidelines of the ICMJE (International Committee of Medical Journal Editors; www.icmje.org) on authorship. In addition, I declare that I shall comply with the regulations of Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin on ensuring good scientific practice.

I declare that I have not yet submitted this dissertation in identical or similar form to another Faculty.

The significance of this statutory declaration and the consequences of a false statutory declaration under criminal law (Sections 156, 161 of the German Criminal Code) are known to me."

Date

Signature of the doctoral candidate

5 Author Contribution

Roberto De Filippo contributed to the following publications:

Somatostatin interneurons activated by 5-HT_{2A} receptor suppress slow oscillations in medial entorhinal cortex.

Elife. 2021 Mar 31;10:e66960. doi: 10.7554/eLife.66960. PMID: 33789079; PMCID: PMC8016478. **de Filippo R**^{*}, Rost BR, Stumpf A, Cooper C, Tukker JJ, Harms C, Beed P, Schmitz D^{*}. * = corresponding authors

Contributions:

Conceptualization:

Roberto De Filippo and Dietmar Schmitz.

Execution of experiments:

All experiments performed by Roberto De Filippo. Recordings related to Figure 4 performed with the help of Prateep Beed. Recordings related to Figure 5, Figure 5–figure supplement 1 and Figure 5–figure supplement 2 performed with the help of Alexander Stump and Claire Cooper.

Data Analysis:

All analysis performed by Roberto De Filippo.

Data visualization:

Figure 4-figure supplement 1 prepared by Benjamin Rost. All remaining figures prepared by Roberto De Filippo. Figure's conceptualization: Roberto De Filippo and Dietmar Schmitz.

Writing of the manuscript:

Roberto De Filippo and Dietmar Schmitz.

Editing of the manuscript:

All authors.

Signature, date and stamp of the doctoral supervisor

Signature of the doctoral candidate

6 Excerpt of Journal Summary List

Journal Data Filtered By: Selected JCR Year: 2019 Selected Editions: SCIE,SSCI Selected Categories: "BIOLOGY" Selected Category Scheme: WoS Gesamtanzahl: 93 Journale

Rank	Full Journal Title	Total Cites	Journal Impact Factor	Eigenfactor Score
1	Physics of Life Reviews	1,627	14.789	0.003150
2	BIOLOGICAL REVIEWS	13,490	10.701	0.019440
3	CURRENT BIOLOGY	63,256	9.601	0.133170
4	BIOSCIENCE	19,069	8.282	0.014250
5	eLife	46,775	7.080	0.287130
6	PLOS BIOLOGY	31,650	7.076	0.060300
7	BMC BIOLOGY	6,440	6.765	0.018830
8	PHILOSOPHICAL TRANSACTIONS OF THE ROYAL SOCIETY B- BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES	46,796	5.680	0.063840
9	FASEB JOURNAL	43,126	4.966	0.043730
10	BIOELECTROCHEMISTRY	4,944	4.722	0.004950
11	PROCEEDINGS OF THE ROYAL SOCIETY B- BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES	55.054	4 637	0.075820
12	BIOESSAYS	10 189	4 627	0.016560
	Science China-Life	10,100	1.021	0.010000
13	Sciences	3,248	4.611	0.006650
14	Current Opinion in Insect	2 247	4 565	0.008900
14	QUARTERLY REVIEW OF	2,247	4.000	0.000000
15	BIOLOGY	4,227	4.389	0.001130
16	Geobiology	2,390	4.385	0.004450
17	Communications Biology	1,326	4.165	0.004260
18	ASTROBIOLOGY	4,070	4.091	0.006180
19	Biology-Basel	1,424	3.796	0.003350
20	YALE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGY AND MEDICINE	YALE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGY AND MEDICINE 2,230 3.549		0.003170
21	Interface Focus	Interface Focus 2,218 3.514		0.005060
22	BIOLOGY AND MEDICINE	6,737	3.434	0.010660
	JOURNAL OF		0.101	
23	BIOLOGICAL RHYTHMS	3,258	3.122	0.003220
24	BIOLOGICAL RESEARCH	1,736	3.092	0.002210
25	JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY	34,195	3.014	0.032180
26	Life-Basel	1,260	2.991	0.004150
27	Biology Letters	10,299	2.869	0.017320
28	EXCLI Journal	1,622	2.837	0.002840
29	BIOCELL	346	2.821	0.000160
30	SAUDI JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES	3,994	2.802	0.005800
31	AEROBIOLOGIA	1,565	2.708	0.001250
32	RADIATION RESEARCH	8,707	2.657	0.005340
33	Life Science Alliance	310	2.622	0.001050

Selected JCR Year: 2019; Selected Categories: "BIOLOGY"

1

7 Publications



RESEARCH ARTICLE



Roberto de Filippo^{1,2}*, Benjamin R Rost³, Alexander Stumpf¹, Claire Cooper¹, John J Tukker^{1,3}, Christoph Harms^{4,5,6}, Prateep Beed^{1†}, Dietmar Schmitz^{1,2,3,6†}*

¹Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, and Berlin Institute of Health; Neuroscience Research Center, Berlin, Germany; ²Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, and Berlin Institute of Health; Cluster of Excellence NeuroCure, Berlin, Germany; ³German Centre for Neurodegenerative Diseases (DZNE), Berlin, Germany; ⁴Charité– Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, and Berlin Institute of Health; Department of Experimental Neurology, Berlin, Germany; ⁵Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, and Berlin Institute of Health; Center for Stroke Research Berlin, Berlin, Germany; ⁶Charité– Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, and Berlin Institute of Health; Center for Stroke Research Berlin, Berlin, Germany; ⁶Charité– Universität zu Berlin, and Berlin Institute of Health; Einstein Center for Neurosciences Berlin, Berlin, Germany

*For correspondence:

roberto.de-filippo@charite.de (RF); dschmitz-office@charite.de (DS)

[†]These authors contributed equally to this work

Competing interests: The authors declare that no competing interests exist.

Funding: See page 15

Received: 27 January 2021 Accepted: 10 March 2021 Published: 31 March 2021

Reviewing editor: Martin Vinck, Ernst Strüngmann Institute (ESI) for Neuroscience in Cooperation with Max Planck Society, Germany

© Copyright de Filippo et al. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use and redistribution provided that the original author and source are credited. **Abstract** Serotonin (5-HT) is one of the major neuromodulators present in the mammalian brain and has been shown to play a role in multiple physiological processes. The mechanisms by which 5-HT modulates cortical network activity, however, are not yet fully understood. We investigated the effects of 5-HT on slow oscillations (SOs), a synchronized cortical network activity universally present across species. SOs are observed during anesthesia and are considered to be the default cortical activity pattern. We discovered that (\pm)3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA) and fenfluramine, two potent 5-HT releasers, inhibit SOs within the entorhinal cortex (EC) in anesthetized mice. Combining opto- and pharmacogenetic manipulations with in vitro electrophysiological recordings, we uncovered that somatostatin-expressing (Sst) interneurons activated by the 5-HT_{2A} receptor (5-HT_{2A}R) play an important role in the suppression of SOs. Since 5-HT_{2A}R signaling is involved in the etiology of different psychiatric disorders and mediates the psychological effects of many psychoactive serotonergic drugs, we propose that the newly discovered link between Sst interneurons and 5-HT will contribute to our understanding of these complex topics.

Introduction

5-HT is one of the most important neuromodulators in the central nervous system. Projections originating from the Raphe nuclei, the brain-stem structure that comprises the majority of 5-HT releasing neurons in the brain, innervate all cortical and sub-cortical areas (*Descarries et al., 2010*). 5-HT levels in the brain are closely linked to the sleep-wake cycle: the activity of serotonergic raphe neurons is increased during wakefulness, decreased during slow-wave sleep (SWS) and virtually silent during REM sleep (*McGinty and Harper, 1976; Oikonomou et al., 2019; Unger et al., 2020*). Cortical

(cc

Neuroscience

activity is also influenced by the behavioral state of the animal: SWS is generally associated with 'synchronized' patterns of activity, characterized by low-frequency global fluctuations, whereas active wakefulness and REM sleep feature 'desynchronized' network activity, in which low-frequency fluctuations are absent. The shifting of cortical networks between different patterns of activity is controlled, at least in part, by neuromodulators (Tukker et al., 2020; Lee and Dan, 2012). For instance, Acetylcholine (ACh) can profoundly alter cortical network activity by inducing desynchronization via activation of Sst interneurons (Chen et al., 2015). However, ACh is not solely responsible for suppressing cortical synchronized activity, as lesions of cholinergic neurons are not sufficient to abolish desynchronization (Kaur et al., 2008). On the other hand, blocking ACh and 5-HT transmission at the same time causes a continuous 'synchronized' cortical state, even during active behavior, thus suggesting that 5-HT plays an important role in mediating transitions between different network states (Vanderwolf and Baker, 1986). In agreement with this line of thought, electrical and optogenetic stimulation of the Raphe nuclei reduce low frequency (1-10 Hz) power in the cortex, implying a reduction in neuronal synchronization at these frequencies (Puig et al., 2010; Grandjean et al., 2019). Moreover, optogenetic stimulation of serotonergic neurons is sufficient to awaken mice from SWS (Oikonomou et al., 2019). These data suggest a relationship between 5-HT levels and patterns of cortical activity (Lee and Dan, 2012; Harris and Thiele, 2011). The exact mechanism by which 5-HT modulates network activity in the cortex however, is still not fully understood.

Here, we used electrophysiological techniques together with pharmacology, optogenetics, and pharmacogenetics to investigate the effect of 5-HT on slow oscillations (SOs), a network oscillation characterized by synchronized transitions (<1 Hz) between periods of high activity (upstates) and relative quiescence (downstates) (Steriade et al., 1993; Neske, 2015; Isomura et al., 2006). SOs are a global phenomenon observed throughout the cerebral cortex and are considered to be the default emergent activity of cortical networks during SWS and anesthesia (Neske, 2015; Sanchez-Vives et al., 2017; Wolansky et al., 2006). We performed our experiments in the medial entorhinal cortex (mEC), a region where SOs can be recorded both under anesthesia and in acutely prepared cortical slices (Tahvildari et al., 2012; Beed et al., 2020). Pyramidal neurons located in L3 of mEC provide the excitatory drive underlying each upstate (Namiki et al., 2013; Beed et al., 2020). Similarly to other mammalian cortical areas, mEC comprises different types of inhibitory GABAergic neurons that can be grouped into three main classes according to immunoreactivity: parvalbumin (PV), somatostatin (Sst), and 5-HT₃ (Miao et al., 2017; Rudy et al., 2011). Most PV neurons target the soma and the spike initiation zone, have low input resistance and minimal spike frequency adaptation. Sst neurons are divided into two groups, one showing features similar to PV interneurons and a second one (i.e. Martinotti cells) that, in contrast, tend to form synapses onto the dendritic trees of their target cells, have high input resistance and show a considerable adaptation. 5-HT₃ neurons are usually located in the superficial layers, have high input resistance and mixed adaptation. While these different classes of interneurons are all depolarized during upstates, PV interneurons receive decidedly the strongest excitation (Tahvildari et al., 2012; Neske et al., 2015). Recurrent excitation and temporal summation of inputs contribute to the transition from downstate to upstate (Sanchez-Vives et al., 2017; Tukker et al., 2020). This excitation propagates to L5 and differentially entrains L5a and L5b excitatory neurons. L5a neurons do not participate in SOs, whereas L5b neurons are steadily synchronized. Both intrinsic and synaptic mechanisms have been implicated in upstate termination (Neske, 2015; Tukker et al., 2020). Activity-dependent K⁺ channels decrease excitability of neurons over time causing a generalized reduction of facilitation (Neske, 2015; Harris and Thiele, 2011). At the same time, blockage of GABA_B receptors significantly extends upstate duration (Craig et al., 2013) and inhibitory drive has been observed to increase during upstate termination (Lemieux et al., 2015). Sst interneurons, and in particular Martinotti cells, characterized by strongly facilitating synapses (Beierlein et al., 2003; Gibson et al., 1999) have been proposed as an important source of inhibition in the termination of upstates (Melamed et al., 2008; Krishnamurthy et al., 2012).

Our results show that (\pm)3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA) and fenfluramine (Fen), two substitute amphetamines that induce robust 5-HT release, suppress SOs in anesthetized mice and, concurrently, activate a small group of neurons characterized by an intermediate waveform shape. Using cortical slices in vitro, we demonstrate that 5-HT inhibits SOs in the mEC and that Sst interneurons, activated by 5-HT_{2A}R, are involved in the modulatory effect of 5-HT. While previous studies have shown that parvalbumin (PV) interneurons are excited by 5-HT_{2A}R (*Puig et al., 2010*;

Athilingam et al., 2017), our results identify cortical Sst interneurons as novel targets of the 5-HT neuromodulatory system via 5-HT_{2A}R.

Results

Pharmacological release of 5-HT inhibits SOs in anesthetized mice

We investigated the effect of 5-HT on network activity in anesthetized mice using multisite silicon microelectrodes placed in the mEC L3, a region located in the medial temporal lobe interconnected to a variety of cortical and subcortical areas, including the Raphe nuclei (*Figure 1A*; *van Strien et al., 2009; Muzerelle et al., 2016*). Under urethane anesthesia, EC, like the rest of the cortex, displays SOs (*Figure 1B*). As expected, we found that upstates were present synchronously in the local field potential (LFP) of all the recording channels (*Figure 1—figure supplement 1*), and that every upstate coincided with large increases in population spiking activity (*Figure 1B*). 5-HT does not cross the blood brain barrier (*Hardebo and Owman, 1980*), therefore, to understand the effect of 5-HT on SOs we used MDMA, a potent presynaptic 5-HT releaser and popular recreational drug (*Green et al., 2003*) that has shown promising results in the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (*Inserra et al., 2021*).



Figure 1. MDMA/Fen inhibit SOs in anesthetized mice. (A) Immunocytochemical analysis of an ePet-YFP mouse showing serotonergic fibers in medial entorhinal cortex, horizontal slice (M = medial, L = lateral, P = posterior, A = anterior). Scale bar: $20 \,\mu$ m. (B) LFP (top) and instantaneous population activity (bottom) of a representative in vivo recording during SOs (spikes/s units in thousands), cyan rectangles represent detected upstates. (C) 3D visualization of the microelectrode location of the recording shown in E. EC represented in gray. (D) Left: microelectrode tracks (red) of the recording shown in (E). Right: EC position represented in green. (E) Top: Cyan lines represent detected upstates. Bottom: LFP (black) and average upstate incidence per minute (cyan). Pink dotted line represents MDMA application time. (F) Fourier transformation and (G) instantaneous population activity for the recording shown in E. (H) Mean upstate incidence after saline (control), Fen or MDMA application (control: n = 5, Fen: n = 6, MDMA: n = 7; p<10⁻⁴, unpaired t test with Holm-Šidák correction). (I) Mean normalized spike rate after saline (control), Fen or MDMA application (control: n = 5, Fen: n = 6, MDMA: n = 7; p<10⁻⁴, unpaired t test with Holm-Šidák correction).

The online version of this article includes the following figure supplement(s) for figure 1:

Figure supplement 1. In vivo upstate spatial features.

Figure supplement 2. LFP power analysis for saline and MDMA/Fen injection.

Figure supplement 3. In vivo upstate metrics for saline and MDMA/Fen injection.

de Filippo et al. eLife 2021;10:e66960. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.66960

Neuroscience

Intraperitoneal injections of MDMA (1.25 mg/kg) caused a strong suppression of upstate incidence (*Figure 1E–H*), a decrease in power of low frequencies (1–20 Hz) (*Figure 1F*), and a reduction of population spiking activity (*Figure 1G–I*). In addition to 5-HT, MDMA has been shown to cause the release of other neuromodulators, such as dopamine and noradrenaline (NE), although to a much lesser extent (*Green et al., 2003*). To test whether the effect of MDMA was mediated specifically by 5-HT, we repeated the experiment using Fen (5 mg/kg), a more selective 5-HT releaser (*Rothman and Baumann, 2002; Heifets et al., 2019; Baumann et al., 2000*). Intraperitoneal injection of Fen had a comparably strong suppressive effect on both the occurrence of upstates and population spiking activity (*Figure 1H–I*). Given the similarity of the observed effects, we grouped the results of Fen and MDMA application and found that both of these drugs significantly decreased LFP power in the delta and theta frequency ranges (*Figure 1—figure supplement 2*). Furthermore, the duration and area of upstates were also significantly reduced (*Figure 1—figure supplement 3*). These results point to a likely involvement of 5-HT in modulating ongoing oscillatory activity and suppressing low-frequency fluctuations.

MDMA and Fen activate a subgroup of cortical neurons

In addition to the LFP signal, we recorded the activity of 355 single units within the EC. Because of the similar effect of MDMA and Fen on spike rates (*Figure 11*), we pooled all units recorded in both



Figure 2. Divergent unit responses to MDMA/Fen application. (A) Spike rate of the activated units versus all the other units during MDMA/Fen application (activated: n = 31, Non-activated: n = 324). (B) Top: TP latencies color-coded by group. Middle: cumulative distribution of TP latencies (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, p Activated vs Int <10–4, p Activated vs Exc <10–4). Bottom: bar plot representing probability distribution of TP latencies, on the right y axis dashed line representing the percentage of 'activated' units per TP latency bin. (C) Distribution of units according to trough-to-peak (TP) latencies and repolarization time. Units were classified as putative interneurons (Int, blue) and putative excitatory neurons (Exc, dark gray) according to a threshold at 0.55 ms; activated units (red) could belong to either group but were mostly intermediate as shown by the covariance (2 STD) of each group (Ellipses). Units recorded during control experiments are represented by empty circles. (D) Waveforms of recorded units (n= 355). Units were divided into 'putative excitatory' (black) and 'putative inhibitory' (blue) neurons according to TP latencies. Units activated by either MDMA or Fen application are represented in red. Inset shows the average waveform for each group. Scale bars: 0.5 ms.

The online version of this article includes the following source data and figure supplement(s) for figure 2: **Source data 1.** Source data for *Figure 2A*.

Figure supplement 1. Cross-correlogram (CCG) based connectivity analysis. Figure supplement 2. TP latency density distributions.

de Filippo et al. eLife 2021;10:e66960. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.66960

types of experiments. We found that drug injections differentially affected spiking rates (*Figure 2A*) of recorded units: while spiking decreased in most units ('non-activated'), a small group of units ('activated') responded in the opposite fashion (n = 31/355, 8.7%).

We then calculated the trough-to-peak (TP) latency of the spike waveforms, which has been consistently used as a metric to classify units. In accordance with previous studies (*Senzai et al., 2019*; *Roux et al., 2014*), we found a clear bimodal distribution of TP latencies distinguishing putative excitatory (Exc) and fast-spiking inhibitory (Int) groups. Analysis of cross-correlograms confirmed the inhibitory nature of a subset of putative FS units (*Figure 2—figure supplement 1; Barthó et al.*,



Figure 3. 5-HT suppresses SOs and activates Sst interneurons. (A) Biocytin staining of four simultaneously recorded cells shown in (B) WFS1 expression (in red) delimits L2/3 border. (B) Intracellular recordings showing synchronous upstate events in four simultaneously recorded cells before (left) and after (right) 5-HT application. Scale bars: 1: 7.5 mV, 2: 25 mV, 3: 25 mV, 4: 10 mV; 10 s. (C) Upstate raster plot before and after 5-HT application, orange box represents 5-HT application (n = 17, $p < 10^{-4}$, Wilcoxon signed rank test). (D) Representative recording showing the temporary inhibitory effect of 5-HT on SOs in two simultaneously recorded cells. Scale bars: 5 min, 20 mV. (E) PCA projection plot of all the cells recorded (n = 48). Cells are color-coded according to group identity: Exc (black), FS (light blue), or LTS (green). Typical voltage responses to current injection (-150 and +250 pA) are plotted for each group. Inset shows the average spike waveform for each group. (F) Representative recording of an excitatory (black) and a low-threshold (green) neuron simultaneously recorded during 5-HT application. Scale bars: 10 mV, 30 s. (G) Average change of RP before and after 5-HT application, across excitatory, fast-spiking and low-threshold neurons (Exc: n = 34, FS: n = 6; LTS: n = 9; $p < 10^{-4}$, unpaired t test with Holm-Šidák correction). (H) Biocytin staining of cells recorded in Sst-tdTomato mouse. Biocytin in green, tdTomato in red. Scale bar: 50 µm. (I) Representative recording of as transmitter recording of a Sst interneuron during 5-HT application. Scale bars: 10 mV, 30 s. (L) Average RP of Sst interneurons during 5-HT (red) and ketanserin + 5-HT (blue) application, orange bar represents 5-HT (5-HT: n = 19, ketanserin + 5-HT: n = 22).

The online version of this article includes the following source data and figure supplement(s) for figure 3:

Source data 1. Source data for Figure 3G.

Source data 2. Source data for Figure 3L.

Figure supplement 1. Effect of Fen on SOs in vitro.

Figure supplement 2. 5-HT suppresses evoked upstates in vitro.

Figure supplement 3. 5-HT_{2A}Rs are involved in 5-HT mediated SOs suppression in vitro.

Figure supplement 4. 5-HT₃ receptor is not involved in 5-HT mediated SOs suppression.

Figure supplement 5. In vitro upstates metrics during baseline and ketanserin + 5-HT application.

Figure supplement 6. LTS neurons are depolarized by 5-HT.

Figure supplement 7. Excitatory, fast-spiking, and LTS cells have unique sets of electrophysiological features.

Figure supplement 8. Classification of cells recorded in Sst-tdTomato mice.

Figure supplement 9. Spatial localization of 5-HT_{2A}R positive cells in EC.

de Filippo et al. eLife 2021;10:e66960. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.66960

2004). The cumulative distribution of TP latencies of 'activated' units was significantly different from both Exc and Int groups (*Figure 2B*). Specifically, the average TP latency of 'activated' units was situated in between the Int and Exc groups (*Figure 2B–D*, *Figure 2—figure supplement 2*), possibly suggesting a non-FS interneuron identity (*Trainito et al., 2019; Kvitsiani et al., 2013*). Notably, the intermediate TP latency of 'activated' units is not the result of an equal distribution between high and low values. Units with intermediate TP latency (between 0.4 and 0.6 ms) are unique in showing a 40–80% likelihood of being 'activated' by drug application (*Figure 2B*).

5-HT suppresses SOs and activates Sst interneurons via 5-HT_{2A}R in vitro

To understand the mechanism underlying the suppression of SOs by MDMA/Fen, we performed in vitro experiments combining electrophysiology and pharmacology. First, we recorded simultaneously from up to four neurons in the superficial layers of the EC (*Figure 3A*). Brain slices were perfused with an extracellular solution containing Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺ in concentrations similar to physiological conditions. With this method we could reliably detect SOs reminiscent of the in vivo network activity (*Tahvildari et al., 2012*). Release of 5-HT in vitro, induced by Fen application (200 μ M), caused a suppression of SOs similar to what we observed in vivo (*Figure 3—figure supplement 1*). Likewise, application of low concentrations of 5-HT (5 μ M) resulted in the suppression of SOs (*Figure 3B*,C). This effect was highly consistent across different slices and was readily reversible (*Figure 3D*). Similarly to spontaneous upstates, electrically evoked upstates (*Neske et al., 2015*) were also suppressed by 5-HT (*Figure 3—figure supplement 2*). Increasing the stimulation intensity did not rescue upstate generation, indicating that a lack of excitation alone cannot explain the suppressive effect of 5-HT on SO. In accordance with these results, we decided to focus solely on 5-HT, however, we acknowledge that other neurotransmitters might be involved in the effect of MDMA/Fen we observed in vivo.

Suppression of activity can have either an intrinsic or synaptic origin (*Turrigiano, 2011*). A substantial subset of EC excitatory neurons is known to express 5-HT_{1A} receptor ($5\text{-HT}_{1A}R$) and hyperpolarize upon 5-HT application via activation of G protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium (GIRK) channels (*Schmitz et al., 1998; Chalmers and Watson, 1991*). The suppression of SOs by 5-HT, however, was not influenced by blocking $5\text{-HT}_{1A}R$ (WAY 100635, 100 nM) (*Figure 3—figure supplement 3A*,E). Blocking 5-HT_3R (tropisetron, 1 μ M), the receptor that characterizes one of the three main groups of interneurons, also did not have any impact on SOs suppression induced by 5-HT. Similarly, application of the 5-HT₃R agonist m-CPBG (50 μ M) did not have any effect on SOs (*Figure 3—figure supplement 4*). In contrast, blocking 5-HT_2AR with the selective antagonist ketanserin (1 μ M) (*Preller et al., 2018*) strongly reduced the suppression power of 5-HT on SOs from 95 $\pm 4\%$ to $57 \pm 10.1\%$ (*Figure 4—figure supplement 1B*,E). The remaining suppression can be possibly explained by the activation of 5-HT_1AR on excitatory cells, as is reflected by the reduced spiking activity of putative excitatory cells (*Figure 3—figure supplement 5*).

Selective activation of 5-HT_{2A}R by α -methyl-5-HT (5 μ M) mimicked the suppression of SOs observed after 5-HT wash-in (Figure 3-figure supplement 3C, E). Together, these results point to the importance of 5-HT_{2A}R in the suppression of SOs. 5-HT_{2A}R activation is known to cause an increase in intracellular calcium and consequent depolarization of the resting potential (RP) (Nichols and Nichols, 2008). Accordingly, after 5-HT application, we found that a small group of neurons was depolarized (n = 6/48, 12.5%) (Figure 3-figure supplement 6B-C). Using a soft clustering approach with six electrophysiological parameters (see 'Materials and methods') we divided the recorded cells into three groups: Excitatory (Exc), fast-spiking (FS), and low-threshold spiking (LTS). Strikingly, the cells excited by 5-HT belonged exclusively to the LTS group (Figure 3G, Figure 3-figure supplement 6). A substantial proportion of LTS neurons express Sst (Tremblay et al., 2016; Gibson et al., 1999); therefore, we performed targeted patch-clamp recordings using a mouse line expressing tdTomato specifically in Sst-expressing interneurons (Figure 3H). A subgroup of Sst interneurons are FS cells (Urban-Ciecko et al., 2018), only LTS Sst interneurons were considered in the following analysis. Sst interneurons depolarized upon 5-HT application (n = 19, Δ RP: 7.5 ± 1.23 mV) (*Figure 3I–L*) and in some cases continued to spike while SOs were suppressed (n = 8/17, 47.05%, mean $_{spiking\ rate}$ = 3.03 \pm 0.39 spikes/s). This effect was blocked by ketanserin (n = 22) (Figure 3L). We confirmed the presence of 5-HT2AR in Sst interneurons using immunohistochemistry in mice expressing EGFP under the 5-HT_{2A}R promoter. In accordance with a previous study we found the majority of 5-HT_{2A}R positive cells in the deep layers of EC, with a peak

in L6 (Weber and Andrade, 2010). We observed that $11.8 \pm 2.9\%$ of the 5-HT_{2A}R positive cells in EC colocalized with Sst (n = 7 mice) (Figure 3-figure supplement 9). These results suggest that Sst interneurons may provide the synaptic inhibition required for the suppression of SOs.

Sst interneurons mediate the suppression of SOs by 5-HT in vitro

To evaluate the contribution of Sst interneurons to the 5-HT-mediated silencing of SOs we used an opto- and pharmacogenetic approach. First, we transgenically expressed channelrhodopsin-2 (ChR2) in Sst interneurons (Figure 4A). Light-stimulation of ChR2- expressing Sst interneurons in vitro suppressed SOs consistently (Figure 4D-F). Expectedly, upstate-associated spiking was also diminished (Figure 4C, E, F). At the end of the light stimulation, spontaneous upstates immediately reoccurred (Figure 4G-H), in line with a critical role of Sst interneurons in the modulation of SOs



Figure 4. Sst interneurons activation suppresses SO. (A) Experimental protocol: Sst interneurons expressing ChR2 are activated by light during intracellular recording of L3 neurons in EC. (B) Representative recordings from a L3 neuron during Sst interneuron activation. Scale bars: 10 mV, 0.5 s. (C) Spikes raster (top) and density plot (bottom) during light stimulation. (D) Upstate raster (top) and density plot (bottom) during light stimulation. (E) Left: spike frequency during baseline light stimulation (n = 14; p<0.001, Wilcoxon signed rank test). Right: upstate incidence during baseline and light stimulation (n = 14; p<0.001, Wilcoxon signed rank test). Patches represent 95% confidence interval, lines represent standard deviation. (F) Left: spike probability polar plot during Sst interneurons light activation. Right: upstate probability polar plot during Sst interneurons light activation. Note the absence of both spiking activity and upstates during Sst interneurons activation.

The online version of this article includes the following source data and figure supplement(s) for figure 4: Source data 1. Source data for Figure 4E.

Figure supplement 1. Vector construction and RMCE for the generation of a transgenic mouse line with Creconditional hM4Di expression



Neuroscience

(Fanselow et al., 2008; Funk et al., 2017; Niethard et al., 2018). We acknowledge that activation of PV interneurons can cause a similar suppression (Zucca et al., 2017). While this experiment establishes the ability of Sst interneurons to suppress SOs, it does not causally link Sst interneuron activation to the suppression of SOs induced by 5-HT. Therefore, we generated a transgenic mouse line carrying a Cre-conditional expression cassette of the pharmacogenetic silencer hM4Di (Figure 4 figure supplement 1; Armbruster et al., 2007). Homozygous Cre-conditional hM4Di transgenic mice and Sst-Cre mice were bred to obtain heterozygous Sst-Cre/hM4Di offspring, which allow specific inhibition of Sst interneuron activity using Clozapine-N-Oxide (CNO). Following application of 5-HT we observed a strong reduction of upstate incidence, which was partially restored by subsequent application of CNO (Figure 5A–B).

Activation of 5-HT_{1A}R on excitatory cells by 5-HT and the resulting decreased network excitation drive might account for the fact that the incidence of upstates did not completely return to the baseline level upon CNO wash-in. Additionally, in further experiments in which CNO was applied before 5-HT, the significant reduction in upstate incidence typically seen after 5-HT wash-in was not observed (*Figure 5—figure supplement 1*). CNO did not show any significant effect in both wild-type littermates and hM4Di-PV mice (*Figure 5—figure supplement 2*), indicating that the results observed are due to its specific effect on the activity of Sst interneurons. In summary, while activation of Sst interneurons either via 5-HT or directly by ChR2 suppresses SOs, the pharmacogenetic inactivation of Sst interneurons weakens the effect of 5-HT on SOs.

Discussion

In this study, we show that the substitute amphetamines MDMA and Fen suppress default cortical network oscillations in vivo in the mEC. Furthermore, using an opto- and pharmacogenetic approach in vitro, we demonstrate that Sst interneurons, activated by $5-HT_{2A}R$, contribute to this suppression.

Organization of cortical activity is brain state-dependent, ranging continuously from 'synchronized' to 'desynchronized' states (*Harris and Thiele, 2011*). SOs are on one end of this continuum, representing the prototypical synchronized state. Our results, in line with previous studies (*Puig et al., 2010; Grandjean et al., 2019*), show that 5-HT can suppress synchronized cortical activity; in addition, we identify Sst interneurons as

contributing to this suppression.

Sst interneurons have been previously proposed to provide the inhibition necessary for the termination of upstates, due to their strongly facilitating synapses (Krishnamurthy et al., 2012: Melamed et al., 2008). Additionally. increased inhibition, as shown both in computational models and experimental data, can counteract temporal summation of inputs and reduce correlation due to tracking of shared inputs between inhibitory and excitatory populations (Sippy and Yuste, 2013; Renart et al., 2010; Stringer et al., 2016). In the case of Sst interneurons, this would especially impact summation in distal compartments of pyramidal cells, due to the axonic targeting of Sst cells onto pyramids. Sst interneurons are specifically known to be sufficient to cause desynchronization in V1 (Chen et al., 2015). While it is well known that Sst interneurons are potently excited by ACh in various cortical areas (Chen et al., 2015; Obermayer et al., 2018; Fanselow et al., 2008), including mEC (Desikan et al., 2018) and NE in frontal cortex (Kawaguchi and Kubota, 1998), our work identifies them as a novel target of 5-HT regulation via 5-HT_{2A}R. Recently, it has



Figure 5. Sst interneurons mediate the effect of 5-HT on SO. (A) Upstate raster plot during 5-HT and subsequent CNO application. Orange box represents 5-HT, purple boxes represent CNO. Note the appearance of upstates after CNO application. (B) Upstate incidence during 5-HT and 5-HT+CNO application (n = 15; p (baseline vs 5-HT)<10-4, p (baseline vs CNO)=0.0482, p5-HT vs CNO = 0.0405, Kruskal-Wallis test). Patches represent 95% confidence intervals, lines represent standard deviation. The online version of this article includes the following source data and figure supplement(s) for figure 5:

Source data 1. Source data for *Figure 5B*. Figure supplement 1. CNO application prevents 5-HT mediated upstates suppression.

Figure supplement 2. CNO application in wild-type littermates and PV-hM4Di mice.

been proposed that inhibitory interneurons play a key role in mediating the effect of ACh and NE on cortical state transitions (*Cardin, 2019*). Our results add a new level of complexity to this picture.

The excitation of Sst interneurons by 5-HT possibly contributes to the net inhibitory effect of 5-HT release observed in many cortical areas (Grandjean et al., 2019; Seillier et al., 2017; Azimi et al., 2020), and could explain why the inhibition strength is linearly correlated to 5-HT_{2A}R expression (Grandjean et al., 2019). Giving further support to this idea, Sst interneurons in the somatosensory cortex show increased cFos levels following 5-HT_{2A}R activation (Martin and Nichols, 2016). Previous studies have reported either $5-HT_{2A}R$ -dependent inhibition or $5-HT_{2A}R$ -dependent activation of interneurons in the prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Abi-Saab et al., 1999; Ashby et al., 1990; Athilingam et al., 2017), piriform cortex (Marek and Aghajanian, 1994; Sheldon and Aghajanian, 1990), cingulate cortex (Zhou and Hablitz, 1999), cochlear nucleus (Tang and Trussell, 2017), amygdala (Sengupta et al., 2017), olfactory bulb (Petzold et al., 2009; Hardy et al., 2005), visual cortex (Michaiel et al., 2019; Azimi et al., 2020), and hippocampus (Wyskiel and Andrade, 2016). However, none of these studies identified interneurons using molecular markers, so we do not exclude that different interneuron classes in other cortical areas might mediate the inhibitory downstream effects of 5-HT_{2A}R. For example, in the PFC a subgroup of PV interneurons has been reported to be activated by this receptor (Athilingam et al., 2017; Puig et al., 2010). Furthermore, we know that PV neurons can reliably induce up to down state transitions (Zucca et al., 2017). 5-HT modulation is also involved in gain regulation. In the olfactory cortex, 5-HT has a selective subtractive effect on stimulus evoked firing (Lottern et al., 2016), and a recent study has shown in the visual cortex that the reduced gain of evoked responses is dependent on 5-HT2AR activation (Azimi et al., 2020). Intriguingly, Sst interneurons have been shown to regulate subtractive inhibition (Sturgill and Isaacson, 2015; Wilson et al., 2012).

5-HT levels in the brain, similarly to other neuromodulators, are synchronized to the sleep wake cycle, with higher levels present during the waking state (Oikonomou et al., 2019). How does this notion relate to activation of Sst interneurons by 5-HT_{2A}R? A limitation of our study is the absence of data in naturalistic conditions, with anesthesia potentially being a confounding factor (Adesnik et al., 2012). We can nonetheless speculate that Sst interneurons should be more active during states with higher 5-HT levels (wake>SWS>REM). A previous study directly measuring the activity of various neuronal classes across different states seems to support this idea. Sst interneurons in the dorsal cortical surface display their highest activity during waking states, lower activity during SWS and lowest activity during REM (Niethard et al., 2016). Following pharmacological release of 5-HT in vivo, we observed increased spiking activity in a subgroup of neurons whose waveform features are compatible with Sst interneurons. Our in vitro data using 5-HT at a concentration commonly used in the field (Gorinski et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2016; Huang et al., 2009) shows that Sst interneurons can be activated by 5-HT_{2A}R, however, recordings during natural sleep and wake conditions in combination with optotagging will be needed to demonstrate conclusively that Sst interneurons are activated by 5-HT in physiological conditions in vivo. Potential differences between physiological and pharmacological 5-HT release are especially of interest considering the reported efficacy of MDMA in the treatment of PTSD and its recently approved status as breakthrough therapy (Inserra et al., 2021; Mithoefer et al., 2019).

While our data relative to MDMA application supports a role of 5-HT in modulating SOs in vivo we cannot exclude that other neuromodulators might play a role. For example, it is known that dopamine can suppress SOs in vitro (*Mayne et al., 2013*). Fen, however, has been reported to selectively increase 5-HT concentration in the brain (*Rothman and Baumann, 2002*) and has been used previously to specifically disentangle the effect of MDMA on different neuromodulatory systems (*Heifets et al., 2019*). This, together with our in vitro results, suggests that 5-HT is most likely mediating the effect induced by MDMA/Fen.

Besides its involvement in various physiological brain processes, 5-HT is also associated with the etiology of various psychiatric disorders, as are Sst interneurons (*Pantazopoulos et al., 2017; Lin and Sibille, 2015*). Furthermore, 5-HT is linked to the psychological effect of many psychotropic drugs; specifically, 5-HT_{2A}R activation has been reported to be essential for the psychological effects induced by various psychedelics (*Nichols, 2016*), and in the case of MDMA, has been linked to perceptual and emotional alterations (*Liechti et al., 2000; Kuypers et al., 2018*). Broadband reduction in oscillatory power, triggered by 5-HT_{2A}R, seems to be linked to the subjective effect of serotoner-gic drugs (*Carhart-Harris et al., 2016; Carhart-Harris and Friston, 2019*) and has been consistently

Neuroscience

observed in humans and rodents following administration of MDMA (*Frei et al., 2001*; *Lansbergen et al., 2011*) or various other 5-HT_{2A}R agonists (*Kometer et al., 2015*; *Muthukumaraswamy et al., 2013*; *Carhart-Harris et al., 2016*; *Wood et al., 2012*). The link between 5-HT_{2A}R and perception is further supported by the fact that several routinely used antipsy-chotic drugs are potent 5-HT_{2A}R antagonists (*Marek et al., 2003*; *Meltzer, 1999*). Although the most recent attempts to explain the psychological effects of 5-HT_{2A}R activation focus on the increased spiking of cortical pyramidal neurons in the deep layers (*Carhart-Harris and Friston, 2019*; *Nichols, 2016*), our study suggests that Sst interneurons may also play a role. Sst interneurons, in contrast to PV interneurons, form synapses on the dendrites of their target cell (*Tremblay et al., 2016*). A wealth of evidence suggests that active dendritic processing in cortical pyramidal neurons has a critical influence on sensory perception (*Takahashi et al., 2016*; *Murayama et al., 2009*; *Smith et al., 2013*; *Ranganathan et al., 2018*) and, in accordance with their unique anatomical properties, Sst interneurons strongly influence dendritic computations and directly modulate perceptual thresholds (*Takahashi et al., 2016*).

We propose that the novel link between $5-HT_{2A}R$ and Sst interneurons might help elucidate the mechanisms underlying a host of psychiatric disorders and contribute to our understanding of how serotonergic drugs exert their psychological effects.

Materials and methods

All experiments were conducted according to regulations of the Landesamt für Gesundheit und Soziales (Berlin [T 0100/03], Berlin [G0298/18]) and the European legislation (European Directive 2010/63/EU).

Animals

Data for the in vivo part of the study was collected from C57Bl/6 mice (aged 6-10 weeks). Data for the in vitro part was collected from C57BI/6 (P10-P17), Sst-tdTomato (P10-P30), Sst-Chr2-EYFP (P10-P16), hM4Di-Sst (P10-P15), hM4Di-Sst (+/-) (P10-P15) and hM4Di-PV (P10-P15) mice. Immunostainings to localize 5-HT_{2A}R were performed on 5-HT_{2A}R-EGFP mice (P20-P90) and immunostainings to localize 5-HT fibers were performed on an ePet-YFP mouse (P35). Sst-Cre mice (RRID:IMSR_JAX: 013044) have Cre recombinase targeted to the Sst locus; they were obtained from Jackson Laboratory (ME, USA). PV-Cre mice (RRID:IMSR JAX:008069) have Cre recombinase targeted to the Pvalb locus; they were obtained from Charles River Laboratory (MA, USA). tdTomato mice (Ai9, RRID: IMSR_JAX:013044) were obtained from Jackson Laboratory. Chr2-EYFP mice (Ai32, RRID:IMSR_JAX: 012569) were obtained from Jackson Laboratory. ePet-Cre mice (RRID:IMSR_JAX:012712) have Cre recombinase targeted to the Fev locus; they were obtained from Jackson Laboratory. 5-HT_{2A}R-EGFP mice (RRID:MMRRC_010915-UCD) express EGFP reporter protein under the control of the Htr2a gene, they were obtained from the Mutant Mouse Resource and Research Centers (MMRRC, CA, USA). Generation of hM4Di mice is described in the paragraph 'Generation of Cre-conditional hM4Di mice'. The animals were housed in a 12:12 hr light-dark cycle in singularly ventilated cages with ad libitum access to food and water. SOs in vitro recordings were performed on P12-P16 mice.

Generation of Cre-conditional hM4Di mice

We produced a transgenic mouse line carrying a Cre-conditional hM4Di expression cassette in the Rosa26 locus. The transgene construct was inserted by recombination-mediated cassette exchange (RMCE). RMCE relies on recombination events between attB and attP recognition sites of the RMCE plasmid and genetically modified acceptor embryonic stem (ES) cells, mediated by the integrase of phage phiC31 (*Hitz et al., 2007*). The RMCE construct is thereby shuttled into the Rosa26 locus of the ES cells, along with a Neomycin resistance cassette (*Figure 1—figure supplement 2A*). The acceptor cell line IDG3.2-R26.10–3 (I3) was kindly provided by Ralf Kühn (GSF National Research Centre for Environment and Health, Institute of Developmental Genetics, Neuherberg, Germany).

We subcloned a Cre-conditional FLEX (flip-excision) cassette (*Schnütgen et al., 2003*) into pRMCE, and inserted a strong CAG promoter (CMV immediate early enhancer/modified chicken β -actin promoter, from Addgene Plasmid #1378) in front of the FLEX-cassette to create pRMCE-CAG-Flex. The coding sequence of hM4Di-mKateT was inserted into the FLEX cassette in reverse orientation to the promoter (*Figure 1—figure supplement 2A*). Finally, a rabbit globulin polyA cassette

including stop codons in every reading frame was placed downstream of the FLEX cassette, in the same direction as hM4Di, in order to prevent unintended transcriptional read-through from potential endogenous promoters. The construct was completely sequenced before ES cell electroporation.

Electroporation of the RMCE construct together with a plasmid encoding C31int was performed by the transgene facility of the 'Research Institute for Experimental Medicine' (FEM, Charité, Berlin) according to published protocols (*Hitz et al., 2009*; *Hitz et al., 2007*). Recombinant clones were selected by incubation with 140 µg/ml G418 for at least 7 days. To activate hM4Di expression by recombination of the FLEX switch, selected clones were further transfected transiently with pCAG-Cre-EGFP using Roti-Fect (Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany). G418-resistant clones were analyzed by PCR for successful integration and recombination of the construct (*Figure 1—figure supplement 2B*), using the following primers:

GT001 PGK3'-fw: CACGCTTCAAAAGCGCACGTCTG; GT002 Neo5'-rev: GTTGTGCCCAGTCATAGCCGAATAG; GT005 PolyA-fw: TTCCTCCTCTCCTGACTACTCC; GT006 Rosa3'-rev: TAAGCCTGCCCAGAAGACTC; GT013 hM4Di3'rec-rev: CAGATACTGCGACCTCCCTA

After verification of correct integration and functional FLEX-switch recombination, we generated chimeras by blastocyst injection of I3 ES cells. Heterozygous offsprings were mated with a Flpe deleter mouse line in order to remove the neomycin resistance cassette by Flp-mediated recombination.

Mice homozygous for the Rosa-CAG-FLEX-hM4Di-mKateT allele are viable and fertile and show now obvious phenotype. Importantly, application of CNO to these mice does not induce any behavioral effects. Homozygous Cre-conditional hM4Di transgenic mice and Sst-Cre mice (*Taniguchi et al., 2011*) were maintained on a C57BI/6 genetic background and were bred to obtain heterozygous Sst-Cre / hM4Di offsprings.

Drugs

Urethane (U2500, Merck), Fenfluramine ((+)-Fenfluramine hydrochloride, F112, Merck), 5-HT (Serotonin creatinine sulfate monohydrate, H7752, Merck), m-CPBG (1-(3-Chlorophenyl)biguanide hydrochloride, C144, Merck), tropisetron (Tropisetron hydrochloride,Y0000616, Sigma), WAY-100635 (W108, Merck), α -Methylserotonin (α -Methylserotonin maleate salt, M110, Merck), MDMA ((\pm)3,4methylenedioxymethamphetamine, 64057-70-1, Merck), CNO (Clozapine N-oxide dihydrochloride, 6329, Tocris) were dissolved in water for in vitro application and in 0.9% normal saline for in vivo application. Ketanserin (Ketanserin (+)-tartrate salt, S006, Merck) was dissolved in Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO).

Surgery and in vivo recording

Before recordings mice were briefly anesthetized with isofluorane (2%) and then injected intraperitoneally with urethane (1.2 g/kg, Sigma Aldrich, Munich, Germany). The level of anesthesia was maintained so that hindlimb pinching produced no reflex movement and supplemental doses of urethane (0.2 g/kg) were delivered as needed. Upon cessation of reflexes the animals were mounted on a stereotaxic frame (Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, California), and body temperature was maintained at 38° C. The scalp was removed, and the skull was cleaned with saline solution. A craniotomy was performed at +3 mm ML, -3 mm AP, +3.25 mm DV to reach mEC.

Extracellular recordings from EC (*Figures 1–2*) were performed using a Cambridge Neurotech (Cambridge, United Kingdom) silicon probe (64-channels) (n = 15) or 32-channels (n = 3). The recording electrode was painted with the fluorescent dye Dil (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Schwerte, Germany) and then slowly lowered into the craniotomy using micromanipulators (Luigs and Neumann, Ratingen, Germany) at a 25° angle AP (toward the posterior side of the brain). The exposed brain was kept moist using saline solution. A ground wire connected to the amplifier was placed in the saline solution covering the skull to eliminate noise. Brain signals were recorded using a RHD2000 data acquisition system (Intan Technologies, Los Angeles, California) and sampled at 20 kHz. Recording quality was inspected on-line using the open-source RHD2000 Interface Software. A supplementary dose of urethane (0.2 g/kg) was injected right before the start of the recording to standardize anesthesia level across different experiments and avoid the arise of theta activity in the first 30 min of



Neuroscience

recording. Recordings began after a 10 min waiting period in which clear upstates could consistently be seen at a regular frequency.

In vivo analysis

We selected the channel to use for upstate detection based on the standard deviation (STD) of the trace during baseline (first 5 min of recording): the channel with the highest STD was selected, as larger voltage deflection increases detection algorithm accuracy. Given the highly synchronous nature of SOs (*Figure 3—figure supplement 1*) the spatial location of the channel selected was not considered. Upstates were detected comparing threshold crossing points in two signals: the deltaband filtered signal (0.5–4 Hz) and the population spike activity. Candidate upstates were identified in the delta-band filtered signal using two dynamic thresholds 'a' and 'b':

$$a = m + \frac{\sigma}{1.5}$$
$$b = m + \frac{\sigma}{0.8}$$

where σ is the standard deviation of the signal during the first five minutes of recording (baseline) and *m* is the centered moving median calculated using 60 s windows (Matlab function *movmedian*). The median was used instead of the mean to account for non-stationaries in the data. A candidate upstate was identified at first using the threshold crossings of the signal compared to 'a': candidates shorter than 200 ms were deleted and multiple candidates occurring within a window of 300 ms were joined together. Subsequently, the threshold 'b' was used to separate upstates occurring in close proximity: if the signal within one candidate crossed the threshold 'b' in more than one point then the candidate upstate was split in two at the midpoint between the two threshold crossings. Candidate upstates were finally confirmed if the population spike activity (calculated in 100 ms windows) within the candidate crossed a threshold of 1 σ (calculated during the baseline).

Units detection and classification

Spike detection was performed offline using the template-based algorithm Kilosort2 https://github.com/MouseLand/Kilosort2; *Filippo, 2021a*; copy archived at swh:1:rev:a1fccd9abf13ce5dc3340-fae8050f9b1d0f8ab7a, with the following parameters:

- ops.fshigh = 300
- ops.fsslow = 8000
- ops.minfr_goodchannels = 0
- ops.Th = [8 4]
- ops.lam = 10
- ops.AUCsplit = 0.9
- ops.minFR = 1/1000
- ops.momentum = [20 400]
- ops.sigmaMask = 30
- ops.ThPre = 8
 ops.spkTh = -6
- ops.spk1n = -6
 ops.nfilt factor = 8
- ops.ntilt_tactor = 8
 ops.loc_range = [3 1]
- ops.criterionNoiseChannel = 0.2
- ops.whiteningrange = 32
- ops.ntbuff = 64

Manual curation of the results was performed using Phy https://github.com/cortex-lab/ phy; *Filippo, 2021b*; copy archived at swh:1:rev:6ffe05a559bd0302e98ec60d5958ace719544713. Each Isolated unit satisfied the following two criteria: Refractory period (2 ms) violations < 5%, fraction of spikes below detection threshold (as estimated by a gaussian fit to the distribution of the spike amplitudes)<15%. Units with negative maximal waveform amplitude were further classified as putative excitatory if the latency (TP latency) was >0.55 ms or putative inhibitory when TP latency <0.55 ms. The value 0.55 was chosen in accordance with previous studies (*Senzai et al., 2019; Antoine et al., 2019*). In pharmacological classification, units were classified as 'activated' if



Neuroscience

their firing rate in the 25 min following drug injection was 2 σ (standard deviation) above the baseline rate for at least 5 min. Remaining units were pulled together in the category 'non-activated'.

Cross-correlogram analysis

Cross-correlogram based connectivity analysis was performed for every unit to identify inhibitory connections. Units with a spiking rate smaller than 0.3 spikes/s were discarded from the analysis. We used total spiking probability edges (TPSE) algorithm https://github.com/biomemsLAB/TSPE;; Filippo, 2021c; copy archived at swere discarded from the analysis. We used total spiking probability edges (TPSE) algorithm https://github.com/biomemsLAB/TSPE;; Filippo, 2021c; copy archived at swere discarded from the analysis. We used total spiking probability edges (TPSE) algorithm https://github.com/biomemsLAB/TSPE;; Filippo, 2021c; copy archived at swere; Copy archived at <a href="https://github.com/bio

- d = 0,
- neg_wins = [2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8],
- co_wins = 0,
- pos_wins = [2, 3, 4, 5, 6],
- FLAG_NORM = 1.

The connectivity vectors of each unit resulting from TSPE were sorted by inhibition strength. The top 20 connections were further analyzed using custom Matlab (RRID:SCR_001622) code. A connection was classified as inhibitory if the cross correlogram values (x) were smaller than the mean of x by more than one standard deviation (x < mean(x) - std(x)) in at least four consecutive bins (bin size = 1 ms) in a window 4–9 ms after the center of the cross-correlogram.

Slice preparation

We prepared acute near horizontal slices (~15° off the horizontal plane) of the mEC from C57BI/6 mice. Animals were decapitated following isoflurane anesthesia. The brains were quickly removed and placed in ice-cold (~4° C) ACSF (pH 7.4) containing (in mM) 85 NaCl, 25 NaHCO₃, 75 Sucrose, 10 Glucose, 2.5 KCl, 1.25 NaH₂PO₄, 3.5MgSO₄, 0.5 CaCl₂, and aerated with 95% O₂, 5% CO₂. Tissue blocks containing the brain region of interest were mounted on a vibratome (Leica VT 1200, Leica Microsystems), cut at 400 μ m thickness, and incubated at 35°C for 30 min. The slices were then transferred to ACSF containing (in mM) 85 NaCl, 25 NaHCO₃, 75 Sucrose, 10 Glucose, 2.5 KCl, 1.25 NaH₂PO₄, 3.5 MgSO₄, 0.5 CaCl₂. The slices were stored at room temperature in a submerged chamber for 1–5 hr before being transferred to the recording chamber.

In vitro recording

In order to perform whole-cell recordings slices were transferred to a submersion style recording chamber located on the stage of an upright, fixed-stage microscope (BX51WI, Olympus) equipped with a water immersion objective (×60, Olympus) and a near-infrared charge-coupled device (CCD) camera. The slices were perfused with ACSF (~35°C bubbled with 95% O₂-5% CO₂) at 3-5 ml/ min to maintain neuronal health throughout the slice. The ACSF had the same composition as the incubation solution except for the concentrations of calcium and magnesium, which were reduced to 1.2 and 1.0 mM, respectively. Recording electrodes with impedance of 3–5 M Ω were pulled from borosilicate glass capillaries (Harvard Apparatus, Kent, UK; 1.5 mm OD) using a micropipette electrode puller (DMZ Universal Puller). The intracellular solution contained the following (in mM): 135 K-gluconate, 6 KCl, 2 MgCl₂, 0.2 EGTA, 5 Na2- phosphocreatine, 2 Na2-ATP, 0.5 Na2-GTP, 10 HEPES buffer, and 0.2% biocytin. The pH was adjusted to 7.2 with KOH. Recordings were performed using Multiclamp 700A/B amplifiers (Molecular Devices, San Jose, California). The seal resistance was >1 GΩ. Capacitance compensation was maximal and bridge balance adjusted. Access resistance was constantly monitored. Signals were filtered at 6 kHz, sampled at 20 kHz, and digitized using the Digidata 1550 and pClamp 10 (Molecular Devices, San Jose, California). Activation light was delivered by a 460 nm laser (DPSS lasers, Santa Clara, California) using a 460-480 nm bandpass excitation filter. Stimulation consisted of 500 ms pulses at 1 Hz.

Stimulation experiments were performed using a bipolar micro-electrode (glass pipette filled with ACSF solution, wrapped by a fine grounding wire) connected to an isolated voltage stimulator (ISO-Flex, A.M.P.I., Israel). A 4x objective (Olympus) was used to visually guide the stimulating electrode into the mEC. Stimulation power was adjusted to achieve consistent upstate generation during baseline (>95%). Each stimulus had a duration of 50 μ s and the inter-stimulus interval was 8–10 s.

In vitro analysis

In vitro upstates were detected in Matlab using an algorithm similar to the one described in the in vivo analysis method section. We used a coincident detection in two signals. In multicellular recordings, we used the membrane potential of two cells, and in single-cell recordings, we used membrane potential and the envelope of the gamma filtered trace (50–250 Hz), as upstates are characterized by an increase in gamma activity (*Neske, 2015*).

The baseline condition was defined as the last 120 s before drug application, while the post-drug application condition was defined as the 120 s of recording after drug application (Total recording duration: 600 s).

Excitatory (Exc), fast-spiking (FS), and low-threshold spiking (LTS) neurons were classified using Gaussian mixture models (GMM) with a soft clustering approach in Matlab. Input resistance (R_{in}), Δ after-hyperpolarization (Δ AHP), sag, rheobase, spike width and resting potential (RP) were extracted from each neuron and used in the classification. The first two components of the principal component analysis (PCA) were used to fit the data to a Gaussian mixture model distribution. Initial values were set according to the k-means algorithm with centroid positioned at x and y position: 5, 0; -15, -15; -15, 10. This centroid were placed according to the loadings of the PCA to identify three clusters with the following main features:

- Cluster 1 (putative Exc): high spike width, low AHP, low rheobase.
 - Cluster 2 (putative FS): low spike width, low SAG, high rheobase, low Rin.
- Cluster 3 (putative LTS): low spike width, high SAG, high AHP, high R_{in}.

Covariance matrices were diagonal and not shared. Neurons with a posterior probability of belonging to any of the three clusters of <90% were discarded from further analysis (1/49).

While the majority of Sst-interneurons display LTS features, a minority (~10%) belong to the FS group (*Urban-Ciecko et al., 2015*). To distinguish FS and LTS interneurons in the Sst-Td Tomato mice, we employed the GMM with posterior probability threshold of 90%. Only LTS Sst neurons were considered for further analysis.

Histological analysis

For the postmortem electrode track reconstructions of the in vivo recordings, mice were not perfused; rather, brains were extracted from the skull, post-fixed in 4% PFA overnight at 4°C and afterwards cut with a vibratome (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar Germany) in 100 μ M thick sequential sagittal slices. Images were taken using a 1.25x objective and stitched together using the microscope software (BX61, Olympus). Afterwards, we used AllenCCF code https://github.com/cortex-lab/allenCCF; *Filippo, 2021d*; copy archived at swh:1:rev:80fb1326ccaf6ae765944173c7465f650ade-babe, to identify electrode shank location (*Shamash et al., 2018*).

For the anatomical reconstructions of recorded cells in vitro, brain slices were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (PB) for at least 24 hr at 4°C. After being washed three times in 0.1 M PBS, slices were then incubated in PBS containing 1% Triton X-100% and 5% normal goat serum for 4 hr at room temperature (RT). To visualize biocytin-filled cells we used Streptavidin Alexa 488 conjugate (1:500, Invitrogen Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, RRID:AB_2315383). WFS1 (1:1000, Rabbit, Proteintech, IL, USA, RRID:AB_2880717) was used in a subset of experiments to visualize the L2/L3 border, and Sst (1:1000, Rat, Bachem, Switzerland, RRID:AB_2890072) was used in the 5-HT_{2A}R localization analysis. Slices were incubated with primary antibodies for 48 hr at RT. After rinsing two times in PBS, sections were incubated in the PBS solution containing 0.5% Triton X-100, Alexa fluor 488, Alexa fluor 555 and Alexa fluor 647 (Invitrogen Corporation, Carlsbad, CA) according to the number of antibodies used. Slices were mounted in Fluoroshield (Sigma-Aldrich) under coverslips 2–3 hr after incubation with the secondary antibodies and stored at 4°C.

Labeled cells were visualized using 20x or 40x objectives on a confocal microscope system (SP8, Leica, RRID:SCR_018169). For the 5-HT_{2A}R localization analysis, images of the whole EC were acquired and stitched together using the auto stitching method, without smoothing. Z stacks were acquired every 30 μ M. The image stacks obtained were registered and combined in Fiji (RRID:SCR_002285) to form a montage of the sections. Cell counting was executed using the Fiji multi-point tool. X-Y-Z coordinates of each 5-HT_{2A}R-EGFP-positive cell were exported to Matlab and subsequently, using custom written code in Matlab, we semi-automatically inspected each cell for colocalization between EGFP(5-HT_{2A}R) and Sst.

Statistical analysis

All datasets were tested to determine normality of the distribution either using D'Agostino-Pearson omnibus normality test or Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Student's t-test and one-way ANOVA were used for testing mean differences in normally distributed data. Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test and Kruskal-Wallis were used for non-normally distributed datasets. Dunn-Sidak multiple comparison test was used to compare datasets with three or more groups. Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to compare cumulative distributions. Statistical analysis was performed using Prism (6.01, RRID:SCR_002798) and Matlab. All data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Asterisks in figures represent p-values smaller than 0.05, unless stated otherwise in the legend.

Additional information

Funding		
Funder	Grant reference number	Author
Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung	SFB1315-327654276	Dietmar Schmitz
Deutsche Forschungsge- meinschaft	SPP1926	Benjamin R Rost
Deutsche Forschungsge- meinschaft	SPP1665	Dietmar Schmitz
Deutsche Forschungsge- meinschaft	01GQ1420B	Dietmar Schmitz
Deutsche Forschungsge- meinschaft	HA5741/5-1	Christoph Harms
Deutsche Forschungsge- meinschaft	TRR295	Christoph Harms
Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung	01EO0801	Christoph Harms
NeuroCure Exzellenzcluster	EXC-2049 - 390688087	Dietmar Schmitz
Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin	BIH Fellowship	Prateep Beed

The funders had no role in study design, data collection and interpretation, or the decision to submit the work for publication.

Author contributions

Roberto de Filippo, Conceptualization, Data curation, Software, Formal analysis, Investigation, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Project administration, Writing - review and editing; Benjamin R Rost, Conceptualization, Resources, Methodology, Writing - review and editing; Alexander Stumpf, Claire Cooper, Investigation, Writing - review and editing; John J Tukker, Resources, Methodology, Writing - review and editing; Christoph Harms, Resources, Writing - review and editing; Prateep Beed, Conceptualization, Supervision, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - review and editing; Dietmar Schmitz, Conceptualization, Resources, Supervision, Funding acquisition, Writing - original draft, Writing - review and editing

Author ORCIDs

Roberto de Filippo (b) https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4085-9114 John J Tukker (b) http://orcid.org/0000-0002-4394-199X Christoph Harms (b) http://orcid.org/0000-0002-2063-2860 Dietmar Schmitz (b) https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2741-5241

Decision letter and Author response

Decision letter https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.66960.sa1 Author response https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.66960.sa2

de Filippo et al. eLife 2021;10:e66960. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.66960

...

.

Additional files

Supplementary files

• Transparent reporting form

Data availability

A database for the *in vivo* data is available at http://dx.doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.14229545. Custom code used for the analysis is available at https://github.com/Schmitz-lab/De-Filippo-et-al-2021 (copy archived at https://archive.softwareheritage.org/swh:1:rev:eda027f20c4f267762bc46c47f976fff49a0aa84/). Code used for spike sorting is available at https://github.com/MouseLand/Kilosort2 (copy archived at https://archive.softwareheritage.org/swh:1:rev:a1fccd9abf13ce5dc3340-fae8050f9b1d0f8ab7a/). Code used for manual curation of sorted spikes is available at https://github.com/cortex-lab/phy (copy archived at https://archive.softwareheritage.org/swh:1:rev:ed605559bd0302e98ec60d5958ace719544713/). Code used to estimate neuronal connectivity is available at https://github.com/biomemsLAB/TSPE (copy archived at https://archive.softwareheritage.org/swh:1:rev:b780c753039a2f48201a6bb77dd8f5e65551a845/).

The following dataset was generated:

Author(s)	Year	Dataset title	Dataset URL	Identifier
de Filippo R	2021	Somatostatin interneurons activated by 5-HT2A receptor suppress slow oscillations in medial entorhinal cortex	http://dx.doi.org/10. 6084/m9.figshare. 14229545	figshare, 10.6084/m9. figshare.14229545

References

Abi-Saab WM, Bubser M, Roth RH, Deutch AY. 1999. 5-HT2 receptor regulation of extracellular GABA levels in the prefrontal cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **20**:92–96. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0893-133X(98) 00046-3. PMID: 9885788

Adesnik H, Bruns W, Taniguchi H, Huang ZJ, Scanziani M. 2012. A neural circuit for spatial summation in visual cortex. Nature 490:226–231. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11526, PMID: 23060193

Antoine MW, Langberg T, Schnepel P, Feldman DE. 2019. Increased Excitation-Inhibition ratio stabilizes synapse and circuit excitability in four autism mouse models. *Neuron* **101**:648–661. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuron.2018.12.026

Armbruster BN, Li X, Pausch MH, Herlitze S, Roth BL. 2007. Evolving the lock to fit the key to create a family of G protein-coupled receptors potently activated by an inert ligand. PNAS **104**:5163–5168. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.0700293104, PMID: 17360345

Ashby CR, Jiang LH, Kasser RJ, Wang RY. 1990. Electrophysiological characterization of 5-hydroxytryptamine2 receptors in the rat medial prefrontal cortex. The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 252: 171–178. PMID: 2137174

Athilingam JC, Ben-Shalom R, Keeshen CM, Sohal VS, Bender KJ. 2017. Serotonin enhances excitability and gamma frequency temporal integration in mouse prefrontal fast-spiking interneurons. *eLife* **6**:e31991. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.31991, PMID: 29206101

Azimi Z, Barzan R, Spoida K, Surdin T, Wollenweber P, Mark MD, Herlitze S, Jancke D. 2020. Separable gain control of ongoing and evoked activity in the visual cortex by serotonergic input. eLife 9:e53552. DOI: https:// doi.org/10.7554/eLife.53552, PMID: 32252889

Barthó P, Hirase H, Monconduit L, Zugaro M, Harris KD, Buzsáki G. 2004. Characterization of neocortical principal cells and interneurons by network interactions and extracellular features. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 92:600–608. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01170.2003, PMID: 15056678

Baumann MH, Ayestas MA, Dersch CM, Brockington A, Rice KC, Rothman RB. 2000. Effects of phentermine and fenfluramine on extracellular dopamine and serotonin in rat nucleus accumbens: therapeutic implications. Synapse 36:102–113. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-2396(200005)36:2<102::AID-SYN3>3.0.CO;2-#, PMID: 10767057

Beed P, de Filippo R, Holman C, Johenning FW, Leibold C, Caputi A, Monyer H, Schmitz D. 2020. Layer 3 pyramidal cells in the medial entorhinal cortex orchestrate Up-Down states and entrain the deep layers differentially. *Cell Reports* 33:108470. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108470, PMID: 33296656

Beierlein M, Gibson JR, Connors BW. 2003. Two dynamically distinct inhibitory networks in layer 4 of the neocortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology* **90**:2987–3000. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00283.2003, PMID: 12 815025

Cardin JA. 2019. Functional flexibility in cortical circuits. Current Opinion in Neurobiology 58:175–180. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2019.09.008, PMID: 31585330

de Filippo et al. eLife 2021;10:e66960. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.66960

Neuroscience

Carhart-Harris RL, Muthukumaraswamy S, Roseman L, Kaelen M, Droog W, Murphy K, Tagliazucchi E, Schenberg EE, Nest T, Orban C, Leech R, Williams LT, Williams TM, Bolstridge M, Sessa B, McGonigle J, Sereno MI, Nichols D, Hellyer PJ, Hobden P, et al. 2016. Neural correlates of the LSD experience revealed by multimodal neuroimaging. PNAS 113:4853–4858. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1518377113, PMID: 27071089
Carhart-Harris RL, Friston KJ. 2019. REBUS and the anarchic brain: toward a unified model of the brain action of

psychedelics. *Pharmacological Reviews* **71**:316–344. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.118.017160, PMID: 31221 820

- Chalmers DT, Watson SJ. 1991. Comparative anatomical distribution of 5-HT1A receptor mRNA and 5-HT1A binding in rat brain–a combined in situ hybridisation/in vitro receptor autoradiographic study. Brain Research 561:51–60. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(91)90748-K, PMID: 1797349
- Chen N, Sugihara H, Sur M. 2015. An acetylcholine-activated microcircuit drives temporal dynamics of cortical activity. Nature Neuroscience 18:892–902. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4002, PMID: 25915477 Craig MT, Mayne EW, Bettler B, Paulsen O, McBain CJ. 2013. Distinct roles of GABAB1a- and GABAB1b-
- containing GABAB receptors in spontaneous and evoked termination of persistent cortical activity. The Journal of Physiology 591:835–843. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2012.248088, PMID: 23266934
- De Blasi S, Ciba M, Bahmer A, Thielemann C. 2019. Total spiking probability edges: a cross-correlation based method for effective connectivity estimation of cortical spiking neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods* 312: 169–181. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2018.11.013, PMID: 30500352
- Descarries L, Riad M, Parent M. 2010. CHAPTER 1.4 Ultrastructure of the Serotonin Innervation in the Mammalian Central Nervous System. In: Müller CP, Jacobs BL (Eds). *Handbook of Behavioral Neuroscience*. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier. p. 65–101. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1569-7339(10)70072-2
- Desikan S, Koser DE, Neitz A, Monyer H. 2018. Target selectivity of septal cholinergic neurons in the medial and lateral entorhinal cortex. PNAS 115:E2644–E2652. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1716531115, PMID: 294 87212
- Fanselow EE, Richardson KA, Connors BW. 2008. Selective, state-dependent activation of somatostatinexpressing inhibitory interneurons in mouse neocortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology* **100**:2640–2652. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.90691.2008, PMID: 18799598
- Filippo R. 2021a. Kilosort. Software Heritage. swh:1:rev:a1fccd9abf13ce5dc3340fae8050f9b1d0f8ab7a. https:// archive.softwareheritage.org/swh:1:dir:c5206cc562377ff7d70825a0458997a2e980b30a;origin=https://github.com/ MouseLand/Kilosort2,visit=swh:1:snp:046db4f974bbe0a3f7f659935f39197e88299b36;anchor=swh:1:rev: a1fccd9abf13ce5dc3340fae8050f9b1d0f8ab7a/
- Filippo R. 2021b. phy. Software Heritage. swh:1:rev:6ffe05a559bd0302e98ec60d5958ace719544713. https:// archive.softwareheritage.org/swh:1:dir:3d51c829949d8ba8fa0a36bc5928f58ce1e157d8;origin=https://github.com/ cortex-lab/phy;visit=swh:1:rsp:d7f54c7694780300cff1b7e427eb4f7632ce801;anchor=swh:1:rev: 6ffe05a559bd0302e98ec60d5958ace719544713/
- Filippo R. 2021c. TSPE. Software Heritage. swh:1:rev:b780c753039a2f48201a6bb77dd8f5e65551a845. https:// archive.softwareheritage.org/swh:1:dir:bbb14f33ed0bddeba9cc2f1c0f49027a7e42db0b;origin=https://github. com/biomemsLAB/TSPE;visit=swh:1:snp:3e9a4e0c1e421de4e399f0b0d108dac66b06eaa5;anchor=swh:1:rev: b780c753039a2f48201a6bb77dd8f5e65551a845/
- Filippo R. 2021d. allenCCF. Software Heritage. swh:1:rev:80fb1326ccaf6ae765944173c7465f650adebabe. https:// archive.softwareheritage.org/swh:1:dir:f272cb5c5c9014d76e0b323460daf339921a8b46;origin=https://github.com/ cortex-lab/allenCCF;visit=swh:1:rev:875bc4274cde98b95f285e107453145809f253da;anchor=swh:1:rev: 80fb1326ccaf6ae765944173c7465f650adebabe/
- Frei E, Gamma A, Pascual-Marqui R, Lehmann D, Hell D, Vollenweider FX. 2001. Localization of MDMA-induced brain activity in healthy volunteers using low resolution brain electromagnetic tomography (LORETA). Human Brain Mapping 14:152–165. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.1049, PMID: 11559960
- Funk CM, Peelman K, Bellesi M, Marshall W, Cirelli C, Tononi G. 2017. Role of Somatostatin-Positive cortical interneurons in the generation of sleep slow waves. *The Journal of Neuroscience* **37**:9132–9148. DOI: https:// doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1303-17.2017, PMID: 28821651
- Gibson JR, Beierlein M, Connors BW. 1999. Two networks of electrically coupled inhibitory neurons in neocortex. Nature 402:75–79. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/47035, PMID: 10573419
- Gorinski N, Bijata M, Prasad S, Wirth A, Abdel Galil D, Zeug A, Bazovkina D, Kondaurova E, Kulikova E, Ilchibaeva T, Zareba-Koziol M, Papaleo F, Scheggia D, Kochlamazashvili G, Dityatev A, Smyth I, Krzystyniak A, Wilodarczyk J, Richter DW, Strekalova T, et al. 2019. Attenuated palmitoylation of serotonin receptor 5-HT1A affects receptor function and contributes to depression-like behaviors. *Nature Communications* **10**:3924. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11876-5. PMID: 31477731
- Grandjean J, Corcoba A, Kahn MC, Upton AL, Deneris ES, Seifritz E, Helmchen F, Mann EO, Rudin M, Saab BJ. 2019. A brain-wide functional map of the serotonergic responses to acute stress and fluoxetine. *Nature Communications* **10**:350. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-08256-w, PMID: 30664643
- Green AR, Mechan AO, Elliott JM, O'Shea E, Colado MI. 2003. The pharmacology and dinical pharmacology of 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA, "ecstasy"). *Pharmacological Reviews* **55**:463–508. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.55.3.3, PMID: 12869661
- Hardebo JE, Ownan C. 1980. Barrier mechanisms for neurotransmitter monoamines and their precursors at the blood-brain interface. Annals of Neurology 8:1–11. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410080102, PMID: 6105 837
- Hardy A, Palouzier-Paulignan B, Duchamp A, Royet JP, Duchamp-Viret P. 2005. 5-Hydroxytryptamine action in the rat olfactory bulb: in vitro electrophysiological patch-clamp recordings of juxtaglomerular and mitral cells. *Neuroscience* **131**:717–731. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2004.10.034, PMID: 15730876

Neuroscience

Harris KD, Thiele A. 2011. Cortical state and attention. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 12:509–523. DOI: https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrn3084, PMID: 21829219

Heifets BD, Salgado JS, Taylor MD, Hoerbelt P, Cardozo Pinto DF, Steinberg EE, Walsh JJ, Sze JY, Malenka RC. 2019. Distinct neural mechanisms for the prosocial and rewarding properties of MDMA. *Science Translational Medicine* 11:eaaw6435. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaw6435, PMID: 31826983

Hitz C, Wurst W, Kühn R. 2007. Conditional brain-specific knockdown of MAPK using cre/loxP regulated RNA interference. Nucleic Acids Research 35:e90. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkm475, PMID: 17586814 Hitz C, Steuber-Buchberger P, Delic S, Wurst W, Kühn R. 2009. Generation of shRNA transgenic mice. Methods

in Molecular Biology **530**:101–129. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-471-1_6, PMID: 19266327 Huang CC, Liang YC, Lee CC, Wu MY, Hsu KS. 2009. Repeated cocaine administration decreases 5-HT(2A) receptor mediated service enhancement of synaptic activity in rat medial prefrontal cortex

receptor-mediated serotonergic enhancement of synaptic activity in rat medial prefrontal cortex. Neuropsychopharmacology **34**:1979–1992. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2009.10, PMID: 19212317 Inserra A, De Gregorio D, Gobbi G. 2021. Psychedelics in psychiatry: neuroplastic, immunomodulatory, and neurotransmitter mechanisms. *Pharmacological Reviews* **73**:202–277. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1124/pharmrev.

120.000056, PMID: 33328244 Isomura Y, Sirota A, Ozen S, Montgomery S, Mizuseki K, Henze DA, Buzsáki G. 2006. Integration and

segregation of activity in entorhinal-hippocampal subregions by neocortical slow oscillations. *Neuron* **52**:871–882. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.10.023, PMID: 17145507

Kaur S, Junek A, Black MA, Semba K. 2008. Effects of ibotenate and 1921gG-saporin lesions of the nucleus basalis magnocellularis/substantia innominata on spontaneous sleep and wake states and on recovery sleep after sleep deprivation in rats. *Journal of Neuroscience* 28:491–504. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 1585-07.2008, PMID: 18184792

Kawaguchi Y, Kubota Y. 1998. Neurochemical features and synaptic connections of large physiologicallyidentified GABAergic cells in the rat frontal cortex. *Neuroscience* **85**:677–701. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0306-4522(97)00685-4, PMID: 9639265

Kometer M, Pokorny T, Seifritz E, Volleinweider FX. 2015. Psilocybin-induced spiritual experiences and insightfulness are associated with synchronization of neuronal oscillations. *Psychopharmacology* 232:3663– 3676. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-015-4026-7, PMID: 26231498

Krishnamurthy P, Silberberg G, Lansner A. 2012. A cortical attractor network with martinotti cells driven by facilitating synapses. PLOS ONE 7:e30752. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030752, PMID: 22523533

Kuypers KPC, de la Torre R, Farre M, Pizarro N, Xicota L, Ramaekers JG. 2018. MDMA-induced indifference to negative sounds is mediated by the 5-HT_{2A} receptor. *Psychopharmacology* 235:481–490. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00213-017-4699-1, PMID: 28735368

Kvitsiani D, Ranade S, Hangya B, Taniguchi H, Huang JZ, Kepecs A. 2013. Distinct behavioural and network correlates of two interneuron types in prefrontal cortex. *Nature* 498:363–366. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature12176. PMID: 23708967

Lansbergen MM, Dumont GJ, van Gerven JM, Buitelaar JK, Verkes RJ. 2011. Acute effects of MDMA (3,4methylenedioxymethamphetamine) on EEG oscillations: alone and in combination with ethanol or THC (delta-9tetrahydrocannabinol). *Psychopharmacology* **213**:745–756. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-010-2031-4, PMID: 20924751

Lee S-H, Dan Y. 2012. Neuromodulation of brain states. Neuron 76:209–222. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuron.2012.09.012

Lemieux M, Chauvette S, Timofeev I. 2015. Neocortical inhibitory activities and long-range afferents contribute to the synchronous onset of silent states of the neocortical slow oscillation. *Journal of Neurophysiology* **113**: 768–779. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00858.2013, PMID: 25392176

Liechti ME, Saur MP, Gamma A, Hell D, Vollenweider FX. 2000. Psychological and physiological effects of MDMA ("Ecstasy") after pretreatment with the 5-HT(2) antagonist ketanserin in healthy humans. Neuropsychopharmacology **23**:396–404. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0893-133X(00)00126-3, PMID: 10

Lin LC, Sibille E. 2015. Somatostatin, neuronal vulnerability and behavioral emotionality. *Molecular Psychiatry* 20: 377–387. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2014.184, PMID: 25600109

Lottem E, Lörincz ML, Mainen ZF. 2016. Optogenetic activation of dorsal raphe serotonin neurons rapidly inhibits spontaneous but not Odor-Evoked activity in olfactory cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience* **36**:7–18. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3008-15.2016, PMID: 26740645

Marek GJ, Carpenter LL, McDougle CJ, Price LH. 2003. Synergistic action of 5-HT2A antagonists and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 28:402–412. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/si.npp.1300057

Marek GJ, Aghajanian GK. 1994. Excitation of interneurons in piriform cortex by 5-hydroxytryptamine: blockade by MDL 100,907, a highly selective 5-HT2A receptor antagonist. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 259:137– 141. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2999(94)90502-9. PMID: 7957607

Martin DA, Nichols CD. 2016. Psychedelics recruit multiple cellular types and produce complex transcriptional responses within the brain. *EBioMedicine* 11:262–277. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2016.08.049, PMID: 27649637

de Filippo et al. eLife 2021;10:e66960. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.66960

Mayne EW, Craig MT, McBain CJ, Paulsen O. 2013. Dopamine suppresses persistent network activity via D(1) like dopamine receptors in rat medial entorhinal cortex. *The European Journal of Neuroscience* **37**:1242–1247. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.12125, PMID: 23336973

McGinty DJ, Harper RM. 1976. Dorsal raphe neurons: depression of firing during sleep in cats. Brain Research 101:569–575. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(76)90480-7, PMID: 1244990

- Melamed O, Barak O, Silberberg G, Markram H, Tsodyks M. 2008. Slow oscillations in neural networks with facilitating synapses. Journal of Computational Neuroscience 25:308–316. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10827-008-0080-z
- Meltzer HY. 1999. The role of serotonin in antipsychotic drug action. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **21**:106S–115. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0893-133X(99)00046-9, PMID: 10432496

Miao C, Cao Q, Moser MB, Moser El. 2017. Parvalbumin and somatostatin interneurons control different Space-Coding networks in the medial entorhinal cortex. *Cell* **171**:507–521. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017. 08.050, PMID: 28965758

- Michaiel AM, Parker PRL, Niell CM. 2019. A hallucinogenic Serotonin-2A receptor agonist reduces visual response gain and alters temporal dynamics in mouse V1. *Cell Reports* **26**:3475–3483. DOI: https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.celrep.2019.02.104, PMID: 30917304
- Mithoefer MC, Feduccia AA, Jerome L, Mithoefer A, Wagner M, Walsh Z, Hamilton S, Yazar-Klosinski B, Emerson A, Doblin R. 2019. MDMA-assisted psychotherapy for treatment of PTSD: study design and rationale for phase 3 trials based on pooled analysis of six phase 2 randomized controlled trials. *Psychopharmacology* 236:2735–2745. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-019-05249-5, PMID: 31065731
- Murayama M, Pérez-Garci E, Nevian T, Bock T, Senn W, Larkum ME. 2009. Dendritic encoding of sensory stimuli controlled by deep cortical interneurons. *Nature* 457:1137–1141. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07663, PMID: 19151696
- Muthukumaraswamy SD, Carhart-Harris RL, Moran RJ, Brookes MJ, Williams TM, Errtizoe D, Sessa B, Papadopoulos A, Bolstridge M, Singh KD, Feilding A, Friston KJ, Nutt DJ. 2013. Broadband cortical desynchronization underlies the human psychedelic state. *Journal of Neuroscience* **33**:15171–15183. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2063-13.2013, PMID: 24048847
- Muzerelle A, Scotto-Lomassese S, Bernard JF, Soiza-Reilly M, Gaspar P. 2016. Conditional anterograde tracing reveals distinct targeting of individual serotonin cell groups (B5-B9) to the forebrain and brainstem. Brain Structure and Function 221:535–561. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0924-4, PMID: 25403254
- Namiki S, Norimoto H, Kobayashi C, Nakatani K, Matsuki N, Ikegaya Y. 2013. Layer III neurons control synchronized waves in the immature cerebral cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience* 33:987–1001. DOI: https://doi. org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2522-12.2013
- Neske GT. 2015. The slow oscillation in cortical and thalamic networks: mechanisms and functions. Frontiers in Neural Circuits 9:88. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2015.00088, PMID: 26834569
- Neske GT, Patrick SL, Connors BW. 2015. Contributions of diverse excitatory and inhibitory neurons to recurrent network activity in cerebral cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience* 35:1089–1105. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1523/ INFUROSCI 2279-14 2015. PMID: 25609625
- Nichols DE. 2016. Psychedelics. Pharmacological Reviews 68:264–355. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.115. 011478, PMID: 26841800
- Nichols DE, Nichols CD. 2008. Serotonin receptors. Chemical Reviews 108:1614–1641. DOI: https://doi.org/10. 1021/cr078224o, PMID: 18476671
- Niethard N, Hasegawa M, Itokazu T, Oyanedel CN, Born J, Sato TR. 2016. Sleep-Stage-Specific regulation of cortical excitation and inhibition. Current Biology 26:2739–2749. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2016.08. 035, PMID: 27693142
- Niethard N, Ngo HV, Ehrlich I, Born J. 2018. Cortical circuit activity underlying sleep slow oscillations and spindles. PNAS **115**:E9220–E9229. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1805517115, PMID: 30209214
- Obermayer J, Heistek TS, Kerkhofs A, Goriounova NA, Kroon T, Baayen JC, Idema S, Testa-Silva G, Couey JJ, Mansvelder HD. 2018. Lateral inhibition by martinotti interneurons is facilitated by cholinergic inputs in human and mouse neocortex. *Nature Communications* **9**:4101. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-06628-w, PMID: 30291244
- Oikonomou G, Altermatt M, Zhang RW, Coughlin GM, Montz C, Gradinaru V, Prober DA. 2019. The serotonergic raphe promote sleep in zebrafish and mice. *Neuron* **103**:686–701. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuron.2019.05.038, PMID: 31248729
- Pantazopoulos H, Wiseman JT, Markota M, Ehrenfeld L, Berretta S. 2017. Decreased numbers of Somatostatin-Expressing neurons in the amygdala of subjects with bipolar disorder or schizophrenia: relationship to circadian rhythms. *Biological Psychiatry* 81:536–547. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.04.006, PMID: 2725 9817
- Petzold GC, Hagiwara A, Murthy VN. 2009. Serotonergic modulation of odor input to the mammalian olfactory bulb. Nature Neuroscience 12:784–791. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2335, PMID: 19430472
- Preller KH, Burt JB, Ji JL, Schleifer CH, Adkinson BD, Stämpfli P, Seifritz E, Repovs G, Krystal JH, Murray JD, Vollenweider FX, Anticevic A. 2018. Changes in global and thalamic brain connectivity in LSD-induced altered states of consciousness are attributable to the 5-HT2A receptor. *eLife* 7:e35082. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.35082. PMID: 30355445
- Puig MV, Watakabe A, Ushimaru M, Yamamori T, Kawaguchi Y. 2010. Serotonin modulates fast-spiking interneuron and synchronous activity in the rat prefrontal cortex through 5-HT1A and 5-HT2A receptors. *Journal of Neuroscience* **30**:2211–2222. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3335-09.2010, PMID: 20147548
- Ranganathan GN, Apostolides PF, Harnett MT, Xu N-L, Druckmann S, Magee JC. 2018. Active dendritic integration and mixed neocortical network representations during an adaptive sensing behavior. Nature Neuroscience 21:1583–1590. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0254-6

Renart A, de la Rocha J, Bartho P, Hollender L, Parga N, Reyes A, Harris KD. 2010. The asynchronous state in cortical circuits. *Science* 327:587–590. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1179850, PMID: 20110507
 Rothman RB, Baumann MH. 2002. Therapeutic and adverse actions of serotonin transporter substrates.

Pharmacology & Therapeutics **95**:73–88. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-7258(02)00234-6, PMID: 1216312 9 Roux L, Stark E, Sjulson L, Buzsáki G. 2014. In vivo optogenetic identification and manipulation of GABAergic

interneuron subtypes. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* **26**:88–95. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2013. 12.013, PMID: 24440414

Rudy B, Fishell G, Lee S, Hjerling-Leffler J. 2011. Three groups of interneurons account for nearly 100% of neocortical GABAergic neurons. *Developmental Neurobiology* 71:45–61. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu. 20853, PMID: 21154909

Sanchez-Vives MV, Massimini M, Mattia M. 2017. Shaping the default activity pattern of the cortical network. Neuron 94:993–1001. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.05.015, PMID: 28595056

Schmitz D, Gloveli T, Empson RM, Draguhn A, Heinemann U. 1998. Serotonin reduces synaptic excitation in the superficial medial entorhinal cortex of the rat via a presynaptic mechanism. *The Journal of Physiology* **508**:119– 129. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.1998.119br.x, PMID: 9490827

Schnütgen F, Doerflinger N, Calléja C, Wendling O, Chambon P, Ghyselinck NB. 2003. A directional strategy for monitoring Cre-mediated recombination at the cellular level in the mouse. *Nature Biotechnology* 21:562–565. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt811, PMID: 12665802

Seillier L, Lorenz C, Kawaguchi K, Ott T, Nieder A, Pourriahi P, Nienborg H. 2017. Serotonin decreases the gain of visual responses in awake macaque V1. The Journal of Neuroscience 37:11390–11405. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1339-17.2017, PMID: 29042433

Sengupta A, Bocchio M, Bannerman DM, Sharp T, Capogna M. 2017. Control of amygdala circuits by 5-HT neurons via 5-HT and glutamate cotransmission. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 37:1785–1796. DOI: https://doi. org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2238-16.2016

Senzai Y, Fernandez-Ruiz A, Buzsáki G. 2019. Layer-Specific physiological features and interlaminar interactions in the primary visual cortex of the mouse. *Neuron* **101**:500–513. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.12. 009, PMID: 30635232

Shamash P, Carandini M, Harris K, Steinmetz N. 2018. A tool for analyzing electrode tracks from slice histology. bioRxiv. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1101/447995

Sheldon PW, Aghajanian GK. 1990. Serotonin (5-HT) induces IPSPs in pyramidal layer cells of rat piriform cortex: evidence for the involvement of a 5-HT2-activated interneuron. Brain Research 506:62–69. DOI: https://doi. org/10.1016/0006-8993(90)91199-Q, PMID: 2105822

Sippy T, Yuste R. 2013. Decorrelating action of inhibition in neocortical networks. *Journal of Neuroscience* 33: 9813–9830. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4579-12.2013, PMID: 23739978

Smith SL, Smith IT, Branco T, Häusser M. 2013. Dendritic spikes enhance stimulus selectivity in cortical neurons in vivo. Nature 503:115–120. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12600

Steriade M, Nuñez A, Amzica F. 1993. A novel slow (< 1 hz) oscillation of neocortical neurons in vivo: depolarizing and hyperpolarizing components. *The Journal of Neuroscience* **13**:3252–3265. DOI: https://doi. org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.13-08-03252.1993. PMID: 8340806

Stringer C, Pachitariu M, Steinmetz NA, Okun M, Bartho P, Harris KD, Sahani M, Lesica NA. 2016. Inhibitory control of correlated intrinsic variability in cortical networks. *eLife* 5:e19695. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife. 19695, PMID: 27926356

Sturgill JF, Isaacson JS. 2015. Somatostatin cells regulate sensory response fidelity via subtractive inhibition in olfactory cortex. Nature Neuroscience 18:531–535. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3971, PMID: 25751531

Tahvildari B, Wölfel M, Duque A, McCormick DA. 2012. Selective functional interactions between excitatory and inhibitory cortical neurons and differential contribution to persistent activity of the slow oscillation. *Journal of Neuroscience* 32:12165–12179. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1181-12.2012, PMID: 22933799

Takahashi N, Oertner TG, Hegemann P, Larkum ME. 2016. Active cortical dendrites modulate perception. Science 354:1587–1590. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aah6066, PMID: 28008068

Tang ZQ, Trussell LO. 2017. Serotonergic modulation of sensory representation in a central multisensory circuit is pathway specific. *Cell Reports* **20**:1844–1854. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.07.079, PMID: 2 8834748

Taniguchi H, He M, Wu P, Kim S, Paik R, Sugino K, Kvitsiani D, Kvitsani D, Fu Y, Lu J, Lin Y, Miyoshi G, Shima Y, Fishell G, Nelson SB, Huang ZJ. 2011. A resource of cre driver lines for genetic targeting of GABAergic neurons in cerebral cortex. *Neuron* 71:995–1013. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.07.026, PMID: 21943598

Trainito C, von Nicolai C, Miller EK, Siegel M. 2019. Extracellular spike waveform dissociates four functionally distinct cell classes in primate cortex. Current Biology 29:2973–2982. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019. 07.051, PMID: 31447374

Tremblay R, Lee S, Rudy B. 2016. GABAergic interneurons in the neocortex: from cellular properties to circuits. Neuron 91:260–292. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2016.06.033, PMID: 27477017

Tukker JJ, Beed P, Schmitz D, Larkum ME, Sachdev RNS. 2020. Up and down states and memory consolidation across somatosensory, entorhinal, and hippocampal cortices. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience* 14:22. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2020.00022, PMID: 32457582

Turrigiano G. 2011. Too many cooks? intrinsic and synaptic homeostatic mechanisms in cortical circuit refinement. Annual Review of Neuroscience 34:89–103. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-060909-153238, PMID: 21438687

de Filippo et al. eLife 2021;10:e66960. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.66960

eLife Research article

Neuroscience

- Unger EK, Keller JP, Altermatt M, Liang R, Matsui A, Dong C, Hon OJ, Yao Z, Sun J, Banala S, Flanigan ME, Jaffe DA, Hartanto S, Carlen J, Mizuno GO, Borden PM, Shivange AV, Cameron LP, Sinning S, Underhill SM, et al. 2020. Directed evolution of a selective and sensitive serotonin sensor via machine learning. *Cell* **183**:1986–2002. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.11.040, PMID: 33333022
- Urban-Ciecko J, Fanselow EE, Barth AL. 2015. Neocortical somatostatin neurons reversibly silence excitatory transmission via GABAb receptors. *Current Biology* 25:722–731. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.01. 035, PMID: 25728691
- Urban-Ciecko J, Jouhanneau JS, Myal SE, Poulet JFA, Barth AL. 2018. Precisely timed nicotinic activation drives SST inhibition in neocortical circuits. *Neuron* **97**:611–625. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.01.037, PMID: 29420933
- van Strien NM, Cappaert NL, Witter MP. 2009. The anatomy of memory: an interactive overview of the parahippocampal-hippocampal network. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* **10**:272–282. DOI: https://doi.org/10. 1038/nrn2614, PMID: 19300446
- Vanderwolf CH, Baker GB. 1986. Evidence that serotonin mediates non-cholinergic neocortical low voltage fast activity, non-cholinergic hippocampal rhythmical slow activity and contributes to intelligent behavior. Brain Research 374:342–356. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(86)90428-2, PMID: 2941111
- Wang H, Hu L, Liu C, Su Z, Wang L, Pan G, Guo Y, He J. 2016. 5-HT2 receptors mediate functional modulation of GABAa receptors and inhibitory synaptic transmissions in human iPS-derived neurons. *Scientific Reports* 6: 20033. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/srep20033, PMID: 26837719
- Weber ET, Andrade R. 2010. Htr2a gene and 5-HT(2A) Receptor expression in the cerebral cortex studied using genetically modified mice. Frontiers in Neuroscience 4:00036. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2010.00036
 Wilson NR, Runyan CA, Wang FL, Sur M. 2012. Division and subtraction by distinct cortical inhibitory networks in vivo. Nature 488:343–348. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11347, PMID: 22878717
- Wolansky T, Clement EA, Peters SR, Palczak MA, Dickson CT. 2006. Hippocampal slow oscillation: a novel EEG state and its coordination with ongoing neocortical activity. *Journal of Neuroscience* 26:6213–6229. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5594-05.2006, PMID: 16763029
- Wood J, Kim Y, Moghaddam B. 2012. Disruption of prefrontal cortex large scale neuronal activity by different classes of psychotomimetic drugs. *Journal of Neuroscience* **32**:3022–3031. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6377-11.2012, PMID: 22378875
- Wyskiel DR, Andrade R. 2016. Serotonin excites hippocampal CA1 GABAergic interneurons at the stratum radiatum-stratum lacunosum moleculare border. *Hippocampus* **26**:1107–1114. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22611, PMID: 27328460
- Zhou FM, Hablitz JJ. 1999. Activation of serotonin receptors modulates synaptic transmission in rat cerebral cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 82:2989–2999. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1999.82.6.2989, PMID: 10601434
- Zucca S, D'Urso G, Pasquale V, Vecchia D, Pica G, Bovetti S, Moretti C, Varani S, Molano-Mazón M, Chiappalone M, Panzeri S, Fellin T. 2017. An inhibitory gate for state transition in cortex. *eLife* 6:e26177. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.26177, PMID: 28509666

8 Curriculum Vitae

-----MISSING FOR PRIVACY------

9 Publication list

de Filippo R, Rost BR, Stumpf A, Cooper C, Tukker JJ, Harms C, Beed P, Schmitz D. Somatostatin interneurons activated by 5-HT_{2A} receptor suppress slow oscillations in medial entorhinal cortex. Elife. 2021 Mar 31;10:e66960. doi: 10.7554/eLife.66960. PMID: 33789079.

Beed P*, de Filippo R*, Holman C*, Johenning FW, Leibold C, Caputi A, Monyer H, Schmitz D. Layer 3 Pyramidal Cells in the Medial Entorhinal Cortex Orchestrate Up-Down States and Entrain the Deep Layers Differentially. Cell Rep. 2020 Dec 8;33(10):108470. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108470. PMID: 33296656.

* These authors contributed equally

Antonelli R, De Filippo R, Middei S, Stancheva S, Pastore B, Ammassari-Teule M, Barberis A, Cherubini E, Zacchi P. **Pin1 Modulates the Synaptic Content of NMDA Receptors via Prolyl-Isomerization of PSD-95.** J Neurosci. 2016 May 18;36(20):5437-47. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3124-15.2016. PMID: 27194325; PMCID: PMC6601765.

10 Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I thank Dietmar Schmitz for the intellectual freedom and support he granted me since the start of my PhD. I feel lucky because I could pursue a topic that truly interested me, without impositions. In these past years I learned to be independent in the planning and execution of experiments and I will always be grateful for that.

Beside Dietmar, I thank all the coauthors and technicians that supported and helped me during my experiments.

Thanks to Nell Reeve-Jones, Thomas Bensley and Stephanie Schneider.

Ringrazio la mia famiglia per tutto il supporto datomi durante i miei anni di studio.